THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND

CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS 

UNREVISED EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Wednesday, December 2, 2009

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-15, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other acts, met this day at 4 p.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair:  Honourable senators, welcome to the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.
(French follows -- The Chair continuing -- Nous poursuivons notre) 
(après anglais)(La présidente)

Nous poursuivons notre étude du projet de loi C-15, Loi modifiant la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et apportant des modifications connexes et corrélatives à d'autres lois. 

Ce soir nous avons le plaisir d'accueillir un panel de témoins qui seront les derniers témoins, hormis quelques fonctionnaires, que nous aurons le plaisir d'entendre pendant notre étude de ce projet de loi – étude qui a été assez exhaustive, je dois dire. 

(Chair : We are pleased to have …)

(anglais suit)

(Following French -- The Chair continuing -- je dois dire.)
We are pleased to have appearing today:  from the BC Compassion Club Society, Mr. Jeet-Kei Leung, Communications Coordinator; from the Beyond Prohibition Foundation, Mr. Kirk Tousaw, Executive Director; from the Vancouver Island Compassion Society, Mr. Philippe Lucas, Founder/Executive Director; and from the Canadian AIDS Society, Lynne Belle-Isle, Programs Consultant, National Programs.
Thank you for being with us.  We are grateful that it has been possible for you to appear on the same panel, although we appreciate that you each speak for your individual organizations.
Mr. Tousaw, please proceed. 
Kirk Tousaw, Executive Director, Beyond Prohibition Foundation:  Honourable senators, thank you for the invitation to testify.  I have read the transcripts of past proceedings.  I speak on behalf of all Canadians when I say that we appreciate the hard work the committee is doing on this vital issue.  All Canadians deserve the rigorous analysis that this body has conducted on this legislation.  I urge you to continue to apply that kind of rigour to your deliberations and to fulfill this house's traditional role as the body of sober second thought of our government and to reject the radical and dangerous escalation of the war on drugs.
I am here on behalf of the Beyond Prohibition Foundation, a fledgling non-profit organization dedicated to the repeal of cannabis prohibition and its replacement with a system of regulated and taxed production and distribution of cannabis to adult consumers.  I am also here as a criminal defence lawyer, practicing with Conroy & Company
.  I have practiced on both sides of the Canada-U.S. border.  I have experienced the mandatory minimum regime in the United States at both the federal and state levels.  You will not be surprised to learn that despite 30 years of experience locking people up for 10-, 20-, 30- and even 50-year stretches, drugs are readily available, violence is a daily feature of the prohibition markets and for every so-called "drug dealer" put in prison, there are five ready to take over the now vacated marketplace.
I am also here, perhaps most importantly, as a father.  My wife, Debbie, and I are parents of three young children -- Kaya, aged nine years; Cayden, aged five years; and Oaklen, aged three years
.  As parents, we share the same hopes and dreams for our children as any other:  to keep them safe; to enable them to make good choices; and to build a society that maximizes their opportunities while minimizing the dangers they face as they grow into their full potential.  I know with every fibre of my being that this legislation will not help us achieve those goals.  It will instead do precisely the opposite.
I do not propose to restate in detail what has already been said to you on this issue.  There is a laundry list of social harms that this legislation will undoubtedly cause:  the increased violence and death in the drug markets, both of participants and innocent bystanders; the massive inflation of our prison populations with attendant increases in violence, death, disease, rape and recruitment into gangs; the massive overburdening of to our criminal justice system that is already creaking under the weight of drug prohibition; the disproportionate impacts on youth and visible minorities and persons living in areas not served by drug courts; and with prosecutors unwilling to utilize the overarching discretion vested in them by this legislation.  
There is also a laundry list of things that will absolutely not be achieved by this legislation.  There will be:  no decline in drug demand; no decline in drug availability; no decline in drug purity; no increase in drug prices; no reduction in the scope and power of organized crime and, indeed, a likely increase in that power; no deterrent effect; no increase in the length of sentences handed out to high level drug trafficker and importers, the purported targets of this legislation; and no increase in public safety.
You have undoubtedly listened carefully to the testimony of the witnesses who have gone before me and you already know these things.  You have heard the police say this bill will not affect how they prioritize their limited resources and do their difficult jobs.  You have heard senior Crown counsel talk about their retention problems and how this bill will cause havoc with their ability to do their jobs.  You have heard Americans discuss the failures and harms of their system, which we now propose to create a pale imitation of.

I cannot add to that testimony.  Therefore, I want to tell two stories about two people, because ultimately this bill will affect people:  Sons and daughter, mothers and fathers; they are Canadian people.  When discussing crime, it is far too easy to forget we are talking at human beings.  It is far too easy for politicians pushing fear to justify a so-called "tough on crime" agenda; to demonize drug users and sellers, to paint them as some type of "other," outside the bounds of society, calling them "pushers" or "junkies," using language to objectify and dehumanize these mothers, fathers, brothers, sons and sisters and daughters.

The reality is more complex.  Some of the highest level organized criminals are violent, dangerous and are wedded to criminality.  However, they will not be affected by this legislation in the slightest, except perhaps if this legislation has the effect of clearing out their competition, in which case, these traffickers will be emboldened and empowered.

In Michigan, very early in my career, I was involved in a case of cocaine trafficking.  The defendants, a brother and sister, lived in California and were alleged to have mailed just over five kilograms of cocaine from there to Michigan, an amount of cocaine that would probably fit on one of these placemats. 

The brother was alleged to be the mastermind and the sister a "mule" who, on one occasion, dropped off the cocaine at a post office in California.  There was significant evidence against the sister but little against the brother.  They were extradited from California to Michigan because, in California, the crime would carry a potential five-year prison term.  The police and prosecutors felt that facing Michigan's 20-year, no-possibility-of-parole mandatory minimum sentence might loosen the tongues of the accused and have them roll over on their suppliers in the Mexican cartels.

That did not happen, primarily because doing so would have led to retaliation against their family members, who would most likely have been killed.  The sister was convicted and the brother acquitted.  She was a mother.  She was sentenced to 20 years.  That was 10 years ago.  She has 10 more years in prison to go.

Her child was deprived of a mother with all the pitfalls that carries, and for what?  The amount of cocaine she was incarcerated for is literally a drop in a proverbial ocean that flows around the United States, Michigan, Canada and around the world, almost wholly unabated.

More recently here in Canada, I represented a man named Mat Beren
.  He was found in 2005 growing 1,000 cannabis plants for distribution to the then-400 members of the Vancouver Island Compassion Society, and for research ongoing at that society.  The production was occurring in an outbuilding on rural, rented property with the full knowledge of the property owner.  Mr. Beren was paid a nominal salary for his labour.  It was far less than he could have earned working in the non-medical cannabis industry.  All the members of the Vancouver Island Compassion Society have physician support for their medicinal cannabis use, but very few, both then and now, have been able to navigate the federal government's tortured and restrictive exemption scheme.  

Mr. Beren challenged the validity of the scheme as it relates to medical marijuana, and after a lengthy trial, we were partially successful in having portions of the MMAR, the Marijuana Medical Access Regulations, ruled invalid.

However, because his conducted was ultimately illegal, he was convicted of production and possession for the purpose of trafficking in marijuana.  The decision is currently before the Supreme Court of Canada on cross-applications for leave.

The trial judge, Justice Koenigsberg, a 16-year veteran of the high court bench, having heard literally weeks of evidence about Mr. Beren, about the VICS and the motivation for conduct – the circumstances of the offence and of the offender – granted Mr. Baron an absolute discharge.

She called in her reasons of sentence one of the clearest cases for that sentence she had ever seen.  Under this legislation before you, Mr. Baron would be in prison today and would have been sentenced to a mandatory term of three years for providing organic medicine to critically and chronically ill Canadians.

I find that to be reprehensible; I think it is wrong.  When I hear the Minister of Justice, as he did, tell this committee that this law will not affect medical marijuana users or caregivers, he is wrong.  When he says this legislation is crafted to target high-level sellers and importers, he is wrong about that, too.

This legislation is a massive step in the wrong direction.  It will produce tragic consequences.  Like the war on drugs it represents and escalates, it is scientifically invalid, empirically ineffective and morally bankrupt.  Those who support it, vote for it and allow it to become the law of this great land will have blood on their hands and should feel shame in their hearts.

Jeet-Kei Leung, Communications Coordinator, BC Compassion Club Society:  Honourable senators, thank you for this opportunity to speak to you directly.  I am the Communications Coordinator for the BC Compassion Club Society.  We are the non-profit organization that has been operating Canada's oldest and largest medicinal cannabis dispensary since 1977.  

In the past 12 years, we have served over 5,500 members with serious or terminal illnesses.  I will also quickly mention that, since our second year, we have been operating an adjoining wellness centre, and that part of our non-profit model has been to use the revenue from Canada sales to create accessible and affordable natural health care for our members.  Last year, we subsidized over 89 per cent of the actual cost of providing over 2,500 treatments in our wellness centre, in seven modalities, including acupuncture, clinical counseling and holistic nutrition.

We, our members and many others are greatly concerned and alarmed about the impacts Bill C-15 will have on medicinal marijuana patients and the cultivators who supply them through compassion clubs.  Earlier testimony in this committee's proceedings suggests that, indeed, cultivators of compassion clubs will be subject to Bill C-15's mandatory sentences.

To quote the Senior Counsel for the Criminal Law Policy Section of the Department of Justice Canada, Paul Saint-Denis, when given the specific example of a cultivator caught growing 600 plants for a compassion club:  "It is a matter of illegal production.  Already, the law is being broken."

Our existence predates the federal government's program by almost five years.  We are proud to have collectively established and developed the services, standards and procedures that other compassion clubs, including some in the United States, have modeled themselves on.  In fact, we feel the quality of the medicine we provide and the support and services around this provision greatly exceed those of the federal program.  

Therefore, I would like to take this opportunity to give the honourable senators of this committee a little window into how cultivation happens in the compassion club context and how this translates into a safe, high-quality supply of medicinal marijuana for our 5,000 members.

We have 24 cultivators on contract, who sign an agreement to provide exclusively to us.  This is part of our due diligence process and helps us ensure there are no connections to organized crime.  They agree to possible site inspection.  In order to ensure affordable medicine to our members, our cultivators agree to prices below market value.  Each strain we carry is lab tested bi-annually for microbiological contaminants to ensure safety for those with compromised immune systems.  Seventy per cent of our strains are organically grown, which is a more expensive growing method, with a smaller yield than chemical processes.  Even those which are not fully organic use only natural predators and natural pesticides.

One-third of our cultivators have 10 or more years of experience in growing cannabis.  Our most senior cultivator has 30 years of experience.  The issue of expertise relates to the important issue of strain diversity, of which Health Canada's program has none.

While THC is acknowledged to be the most active ingredient in cannabis, THC on its own has many uncomfortable side effects, and it is clear that the ratios of the other cannabinoids
, as well as other constituents of the plants, such as the terpenes
 and flavonoids
, play an important role in modulating therapeutic function and efficacy. 

Each strain presents a different formulation of the cannabinoid ratios that allows us to predict its general therapeutic effects and thus meet the range of symptoms and needs of our membership.

Our cultivators provide our members choice among approximately 80 strains in total.  Many became breeders in order to keep a particular strain strong and have been keeping unique strains alive.  When you lose the cultivator of a strain, you risk losing the very strain genetics which they are the keepers of.

What are the impacts of losing a cultivator?  I will use an actual example from several years ago.  For the sake of the example, I will call this cultivator Jim.  When one of our most experienced cultivators had his facility shut down.  Jim was producing what we would call research-quality product, which is 100 per cent organic.  He had mastered the use of natural predators and perfected a microbiological tea for powdery mildew, the number one bane of most cultivators.  

Jim was also one of our most compassionate cultivators.  He supplied eight to ten pounds of medicine to us every two months in over eight strains at $500 to $600 below market value per pound.  This permitted us to provide this research grade medicine to our members at $7 a gram.  Jim himself was disabled and had been using his proceeds to fund a camp for disabled children.  Jim is not alone in being motivated by knowing that he was helping the sick and ill.  Many of our growers make donations of medicine, time and money well above and beyond what our contract calls for.

After he was busted, he stopped producing.  He was afraid of going to prison.  He was in his 50s, and he was afraid of losing his land.  At the time, he was supplying over 50 per cent of our indicas, the family of cannabis which has great medicinal and therapeutic value.  That loss was transferred and felt by many patients for a long time until we could replace his contributions.

Jim's situation happened four years ago, well before talk of mandatory minimums for cannabis cultivation.  There is plenty of talk now, however, and a real fear among our cultivators about how they will be impacted by this bill.  Several of them have told us that they are thinking about getting out of supplying for us.  These are people with families, afraid of going to prison.  Many are property owners afraid of losing their homes.  

We are deeply concerned that the loss of judicial discretion in the cases of compassion club cultivators will result not only in the traumatization of decent, compassionate people but will have the subsequent devastating effects for the thousands of members who rely on them for their supply of medicinal cannabis that is an essential or valuable part of their treatment.

Mandatory prison sentences for cannabis cultivation will seriously undermine the work of compassion clubs, which at this time we believe to be largely accepted and acknowledged by society as providing a valuable service.  A Maclean's nation-wide poll in 20026 found that 92 per cent of Canadians approved of the medicinal use of marijuana.  

While the pictures we get of compassion clubs are typically related to the marijuana itself, what is often easily overlooked are the value-added services we provide to the community.  This comes in the form of advocacy and support in accessing social services, redistributing donations from many different sources, free events through the year that contribute to the sense of community and place among our members, as well as providing mental health services through counseling and the wellness centre, and also palliative in caring for the many patients with terminal illnesses who become members.

I have been proud to serve the B.C. compassion club for the past seven years.  Before I joined our communications department, I worked in front-line distribution for five years.  During that time, I came to know many hundreds of members personally, and many of them shared their stories with me.  Illness and disease strike across all social boundaries and all walks of life.  In the struggle to survive and live with dignity, something heroic is called out of what seem like otherwise normal average people.  The number of people who have directly told me how cannabis was a key ingredient in their survival and their recovery is truly astounding.  Many members shared stories about how they were able to use cannabis to reduce or wean their use of prescription medications, which they had found much more powerfully addictive, with harmful side effects.  Over and over, people would tell me about the difference cannabis made in their lives, in their ability to live with dignity.  

Now, since we started to publicly campaign against the dangers of this bill, we have spoken to many members as well as the public.  Almost unanimously, they have urged us on to speak out.  I have here a petition we initiated in the past three months.  I submit it to this committee in the hopes that you will read it and hear the concerns expressed and shared by all who have signed it.  It is all our hope that the senators of this committee can play an important role in averting some of the tragic consequences for the most vulnerable that will be a consequence of the inclusion of mandatory prison sentences for cannabis cultivation.

Thank you for your attention and concern for this matter.

The Chair:  Thank you, Mr. Leung.  I am getting procedural advice on whether a committee is allowed to receive a petition.  Pending the conclusion of that advice, on the assumption for now that we are allowed to receive the petition, I will ask you to file it with the clerk at the end of this proceeding.

Senator Nolin:  One of us will table it in the Senate in your name.

Mr. Leung:  We would be very grateful.

Philippe Lucas, Founder/Executive Director, Vancouver Island Compassion Society:  Honourable senators, clerks, members of the public, hello.  I am Philippe Lucas, and the founder of the Vancouver Island Compassion Society.  I am a graduate research fellow with the Centre for Addictions Research of British Columbia and a Victoria city counsellor.  I am also one of about 4,000 Canadians authorized by the federal government to use cannabis for medical purposes.  

My use of medical cannabis began in 1995 when I was diagnosed with hepatitis C.  It turns out that, as a result of an operation in Ottawa in 1982, I had become a victim of Canada's tainted blood supply.  Medical cannabis alleviates the nausea, loss of appetite and localized pain that often accompany hepatitis C.  However, finding a safe and consistent supply has been a challenge for so many Canadians, so in 1999, I left a career in education as a high school teacher to open the Vancouver Island Compassion Society, or VICS, a non-profit medical cannabis research, distribution and advocacy centre located in Victoria, B.C.

About 14 months after the VICS first opened its doors, we suffered a police raid, and I was charged with three counts of trafficking for the distribution of cannabis.  Although the VICS reopened within 10 days, I spent the next two years in court fighting for my freedom and for the rights of sick and suffering Canadians.  After hearing how the VICS has positively impacted the lives of its members, Provincial Judge
 Higginbotham granted me an absolute discharge, praising the work that was being done at the organization, saying: 

 Mr. Lucas enhanced other peoples lives at minimal or no risk to society, although he did it outside any legal framework. He provided that which the Government was unable to provide a safe and high quality supply of marijuana to those needing it for medicinal purposes.

Since that happy day in the summer of 2002, the VICs has gone from a small dispensary on the western edge of Canada to an internationally recognized research centre that has become the template for responsible and effective patient-centred medical cannabis access around the world.  In that regard, I have had a chance to advise a number of U.S. states on their medical marijuana program, and eighteen months ago I was invited by the ministry of health of Israel to help them with their burgeoning medical cannabis program.

I share this story with you today to reflect that had this bill that you are currently considering been in effect at the time of my arrest in 2000, all of the wisdom and deliberation of Judge Higginbotham would have been for naught, and his words of praise would ultimately have meant very little, for he would have had no choice but to sentence me to a mandatory two-year prison term.  This would have affected my life and the lives of the VICS' thousand members in innumerous ways.  It would have robbed my wife and I of our wedding in the summer of 2002 and of the subsequent birth of my daughter Sophie last year.  It would have negatively impacted by ability to pursue my Masters degree at the University of Victory, and it quite likely would have prevented my election to Victoria city council in 2008, where my focus has been on harm reduction and ending homelessness.  None of this would have been possible under Bill C-15.  

According to the Canadian addiction survey conducted by the Canadian Centre for Substance Abuse in 2004, over 1 million Canadians use cannabis for medical purposes, and yet just over 4,000 are currently protected from arrest and prosecution through Health Canada's marijuana medical access regulations, a federal program that has been found unconstitutional five times in as many years for overly restricting legal access to medical cannabis.  When coupled with an ever-increasing national arrest rate for cannabis-related offences and the mandatory minimums proposed in Bill C-15, we have a recipe for disaster that could impact tens of thousands of Canadian patients. 

In an effort to control the cost and quality of their medicine, many of Canada's medical cannabis users currently produce or share their cannabis with fellow patients. 

National cannabis enforcement efforts cast a wide net and will inevitably ensnare cancer patients, people living with HIV/AIDS, hepatitis C sufferers, and those affected by multiple schlerosis, epilepsy and chronic pain, who benefit from the use of cannabis, as well as the employees of compassion societies risking so much to help them.  As a result of mandatory minimum sentences, judges will be powerless to prevent the incarceration of critically and chronically ill Canadians who use cannabis to relieve their suffering.

In regard to diversion to drug courts, I ask this committee to consider how a person suffering from cancer or HIV/AIDS who uses medical cannabis to relieve the symptoms of their condition or the side effects of treatment could possibly benefit by being diverted into a drug court program that would specifically prohibit and subsequently punish the very use of this medication through incarceration.  Perhaps more pressingly, how does our society as a whole benefit from a perhaps unanticipated but ultimately unavoidable persecution of critically and chronically ill Canadians?  

I have often heard the Justice Minister defend this bill by suggesting that Canadians are supportive of laws addressing drug-related crime.  However, the members of this committee would do well to remember that for the last 10 years, every national opinion poll conducted on medical cannabis shows that over 80 per cent of Canadians support medical access to cannabis.  That is true across all provinces and across all party lines.

Although I have no doubt that Canadians wish to see a reduction in problematic substance use and associated crime, they deserve policies that will actually achieve this goal, and inexpensive and ineffective strategies that have been proven to actually increase judicial and incarceration costs as well as the transmission of HIV/AIDS and hepatitis C with no associative reduction of drug-related crime, violence or addiction.  In matters of such huge importance to both public health and public safety, it is imperative that we allow evidence to trump both ideology and public opinion, and in regard to mandatory minimums the evidence is abundantly clear; they simply do not work.  Extensive research conducted on mandatory minimum sentences throughout the world shows that Bill C-15 will not reduce substance use, will not reduce crime and violence, and simply will not make Canadians any safer.  

In fact, Bill C-15 will debase every segment of society it touches, from the police officers saddled with the difficult job of enforcing these ineffective laws, to the judges forced to incarcerate otherwise law-abiding citizens, and to imprison critically and chronically ill Canadians and those working so hard to help them.

Ladies and gentlemen of this committee, I assure you that there is no single bill you will consider during your term in office that has a greater potential to needlessly squander taxpayer funds, to lead to violations of both human rights and civil liberties, and to increase the spread of transmissible disease and unnecessary suffering than the bill before us today.  

On behalf of critically and chronically ill Canadians and those who love them, I am here today to appeal for your logic, to ask for your compassion, and to urge you to please stop Bill C-15.  

Thank you very much for your time and attention and for your work on this important matter.  I look forward to your questions.

 (French follows - Lynne Belle-Isle) 

(après anglais)

Lynne Belle-Isle, conseillère aux programmes, programmes nationaux, Société canadienne du sida : Bonjour à tous, je vous remercie de me donner l'occasion de prendre la parole aujourd'hui.

(Mme Belle-Isle : I will speak in English)

(anglais suit)

(Following French – Ms. Belle-Isle continuing)

I will speak in English.  I just wanted to make my point.  

Thank you for the opportunity to address you today.

The Chair:  You can speak in the language of your choice.

Ms. Belle-Isle:  That is okay.  I speak for the Canadian AIDS Society, and on behalf of a coalition of more than 120 HIV/AIDS community-based organizations in Canada and, probably more important, I provide a voice for the 58,000 people living with HIV in Canada and those at risk.  

I am trained as an epidemiologist; thus my interest in the HIV pandemic.  I currently work as a program consultant, mainly on policy development, capacity-building with our member organizations and, more relevant for the purposes of today, I do community-based research.

A few years ago, as part of a research project, I travelled across Canada to speak to people living with HIV/AIDS who use cannabis for medical purposes.  We wanted to know what their knowledge was of the federal program that exists that makes it legal for them to possess cannabis for medical purposes.  We wanted to know what the barriers were to access to both the federal program and to a source of cannabis for their medical use, because we had heard from them that there were difficulties in accessing both of those things.

Basically, people living with HIV/AIDS use cannabis mainly to stimulate their appetite and to maintain a healthy weight, which helps their survival, to reduce the nausea and vomiting, to help them take their medication, and also to reduce the pain, mostly neuropathic pain, very specific to HIV, which is difficult to treat with standard pain medications.

Current studies in North America show that about 14 to 37 per cent of people living with HIV use cannabis for medical purposes to alleviate their symptoms.  If you take a half point of that, let us say 25 per cent as an estimate, that would amount to 14,500 people living with HIV in Canada who currently use cannabis.  That is an estimate.  As Mr. Lucas reported, 4 per cent of respondents in the Canadian addictions survey indicated that they use cannabis for medical purposes.  When you extrapolate that number to the Canadian population, it amounts to slightly over 1 million people.

Our federal program currently has just over 4,000 authorized people.  We have major concerns about the Canadians who are experiencing barriers to legally access cannabis for medical purposes and the impact of this bill on those people.  In my study that was published in
 AIDS Care journal in 2007, only 26 per cent of people who reported using cannabis for medical purposes -- these are people living with HIV -- had managed to get a legal authorization from the government.  This, despite the fact that the Canadian AIDS Society has been very active in providing and disseminating information about the program.  We have produced a series of fact sheets that include a step-by-step procedure on how to not only apply to the program but how to discuss this matter with their physician.  We have given workshops to frontline workers in community organizations across the country to ensure that they are able to assist the people they serve with the application process.  This is despite the fact that HIV is one of the accepted medical conditions included in schedule 1 of the marijuana medical access regulations for which Health Canada's expert advisory committee found there was sufficient evidence to support its medical use; and this also despite the fact that for physicians who care for people with HIV, the majority of them support the use of cannabis to alleviate their symptoms.  However, they are still reluctant to sign the government forms.

With these factors in mind, I have concerns about the impact of the proposed bill, Bill C-15, and the impact it will have on the people who use cannabis for medical purposes who are having difficulty obtaining legal access through these barriers.  

My study also shows that the average person living with HIV uses about 66 grams per month of cannabis for their medical purposes.  That is just over two ounces, basically over two big baggies full.  If a person were to be caught with that much cannabis on their person, I suspect they would likely be suspected of trafficking.  I am concerned about the legal repercussions that would accompany that.  Mostly, I am concerned about the people living with HIV who are producing cannabis for their medical purposes.  Again, my studies show that about 16 per cent of the respondents were producing cannabis for their own medical use and about half of them had managed to obtain a licence to produce legally.  The other half had not.  Under Bill C-5, these people would likely face a jail sentence, which concerns me.

Even when people have a licence to produce, there have been encounters with law enforcement.  I sat on Health Canada's stakeholder advisory committee on medical marijuana while the marijuana access regulations were being amended.  We were providing input into that process.  We worked collectively; we worked hard to set up safeguards to protect people, especially people who had obtained their legal authorization, such as the creation of the cars, the creation of a 24-hour phone line that Health Canada offers for the police officers to be able to call in and verify the validity of a licence.  Despite these safeguards in place, I still personally get phone calls from people who had their equipment confiscated and their cannabis plants destroyed, even if they had a permit.

In the case of one gentleman in particular, who was quite distraught, his permit had run out two days previously.  He was waiting for his renewal.  He had a licence for five years; he was very ill.  

The police came and he could not produce a valid permit because it had expired two days prior.  They could not contact Health Canada, for whatever reason.  He was handcuffed in front of his family for three hours waiting for contact.

They never could reach Health Canada.  They confiscated his equipment and his cannabis, destroyed his plants.  It took months to settle.  He finally got his equipment back, but obviously not his plants.  He had to start from scratch and it placed a great strain on his health and his family.

With that in mind, I fail to see how Bill C-15 will provide protection to people with licences to produce.  I suspect such unfortunate incidents will only increase.

Finally, stepping back from cannabis, I look at the bigger picture.  Bill C-15 will place more people in jail for drug-related offences in general – people who are most likely to have a problem with substance abuse to begin with.  We are talking mainly about the most marginalized people – people living in poverty, with unstable housing or homelessness, people with mental health issues and other such social issues.  

We can put our heads in the sand and pretend there is no drug use in prison, but we all know that is not the case.  Unfortunately, most of the drug use that happens in prisons has to do with injection use because it is a quicker method of delivering a drug.  It is easier to hide; it metabolizes through the system quicker and is thus less detectable on drug tests.  

Unfortunately, as you hopefully know, people in prison do not have access to needle exchange programs.  Therefore, people tell me – and I conducted another study where I did focus groups across Canada, speaking to people who use drugs or have used drugs – that they had to steal needles from the health services, which they have to share with their fellow inmates; or they improvise and make their own devices to inject themselves.

As a result of these circumstances in prison, there is 7 to 10 times more HIV/AIDS in federal prisons, and 30 times more hepatitis C than in the general population.  You may think that does not affect the general community, but these people come back into the community, clearly.  I do not have to tell you about the issue that HIV is worldwide.

When they do come back into our communities, there are very limited services to assist them in reintegrating into the community or to deal with their substance abuse issues.  Therefore, they resort back to the life they knew before they were incarcerated.

When I did the focus groups across Canada for another project, we wanted specifically to ask them about how harm reduction services, such as needle exchange programs, work for them – what works well, what does not.  Do you know what the main thing was that they wanted to talk to me about?  It was not about access to clean needles; it was about access to treatment.  

It debunks the myth that people who use substances or who are struggling with substance abuse do not want access to treatment.  They do.  However, they do not want to be forced into treatment, and they want to be in a treatment that provides an environment that is conducive to their health and well being.

With that said, I believe Bill C-15 is a step in the wrong direction.  I urge you to carefully consider the consequences of this bill and, hopefully, do what you can to stop it.  I thank you for your time.

The Chair:  Thank you very much, all of you.

(French follows – the Chair continuing – Nous passons aux questions)  

 (après anglais)

La présidente : Nous passons aux questions. Sénateur Nolin, je sais que vous avez plusieurs questions.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je suis prêt à aller en deuxième ronde, mais auparavant, et je ne voudrais pas que ça compte comme une question, je voudrais demander un éclaircissement à Mme Belle-Isle. 

Madame Belle-Isle, vous avez travaillé à Santé Canada de 1994 et 2002. Pour le bénéfice de mes collègues, comme le gouvernement du Canada a dû adopter le règlement sur l'accès à de la marijuana à des fins médicales, est-ce que vous étiez impliquée dans le processus de mise en place de cette réglementation?

Mme Belle-Isle : Non, pas du tout.

 (Sen. Nolin : Now, real questions. I want to talk about…)

(anglais suit)

(following French – Ms. Belle-Isle: pas du tout)

Senator Nolin:  Now, real questions; I want to talk about users and members – the membership of both of your societies – and then we will go into other questions.

First, because there are a lot of a lot of Canadians who are watching us and probably saying, "They are kidding; they are not real.  What kind of members are they?  Are they there for real reasons or are they disguised and they are really there for recreational purposes?"  

Could you both tell us how the membership of both of your organizations are selected or accepted?  I heard one of you talking about medical documentation.  Can you explain to the committee how it works?

Mr. Lucas:  Absolutely.  Last month, the Vancouver Island Compassion Society registered its 1,000th member.  Over 10 years, all of our members have a doctor's recommendation specifically for the use of cannabis.  In other words, they all have their doctors' support for the use of medical marijuana.  They also go through an extensive registration period with us.  

During that registration, during the 35 or 40 minutes that we spend with them initially, we teach them about the different types, the different strains that Mr. Leung alluded to, together with the different methods of injection.  Many of them do not smoke cannabis; they eat it, take it through oil or other methods of ingestion.  

It is worth mentioning that out of the 1,000 members we have at the Vancouver Island Compassion Society, we have doctors' recommendations from well over 350 local doctors.  The medical community has been very supportive of sending people to our quasi-legal organization.

On the other hand, and strangely enough, only a handful of those 1,000 members have the legal right to use it through Health Canada.  In other words, these very same doctors that feel comfortable sending people to our dispensaries are not nearly as comfortable filling out the Health Canada paperwork.  I think those are for reasons of bureaucracy, because of the stigma associated with being a doctor recommending medical cannabis, as well as a number of other reasons.  Our members have the equivalent of what they would have as a prescription for any other substance they might be using for their condition.

Senator Nolin:  Is it the similar situation in Vancouver?

Mr. Leung:  Yes, we have a similar registration process to the Victoria club.  I could share some statistics for the demographics of the membership we serve. 

Senator Nolin:  These are if you are refusing members?

Mr. Leung:  They need their health care practitioner to fill out their application form and to submit it.  Again, of our own membership, less than 4 per cent hold federal licences.  Yet of the membership we serve, almost 20 per cent are people living with HIV/AIDS; 11.5 per cent of our members are cancer patients; 12 per cent of our membership is dealing with hepatitis C and B; 10 per cent use cannabis for arthritis; and almost one quarter of our membership uses cannabis to relieve chronic pain.  

The largest demographic that we serve, 42 per cent of our members, are aged 50 to 64, and a further 8 per cent are seniors 65 and up.  These are the individuals that Mr. Saint-Denis in his testimony claims cannot be helped and who will fall under the purview of this bill.

Senator Nolin:  Just to enlighten the committee, if we compare the strains and the offer that both of you are providing to your memberships, how do you compare that with the offer of Health Canada?  Is it only one strain?  Is it a variety of strains?  Why are there Canadians who could have access to legal marijuana that do not do so and instead go to one of your two institutions?

Mr. Leung:  Poor quality and lack of strain selection –

Senator Nolin:  What do you mean by poor quality?

Mr. Leung:  There has been consistent feedback about Health Canada's product, which is supplied through Prairie Plant Systems, that it is of a consistently poor quality.  Everything is ground up together.  There is no removal of the buds from the stems and the leaf.

Senator Nolin:  You mentioned 80 strains.  How many strains are there in the federal legal access systems?

Mr. Leung:  I do not believe they offer –

Ms. Belle-Isle:  One.

Mr. Lucas:  They offer one single strain and one method of ingestion.  They send ground cannabis to your home with no instructions on how to use it other than smoke it -- the obvious reason.  

At dispensaries like the BCCCS and the Vancouver Island Compassion Society, we make an oral mucosal spray available.  People can use it sublingually.  We make oils, tinctures and edibles as well.  We certainly found at the Vancouver Island Compassion Society that people over 65 years of age tend to tolerate edibles much better than smoked products.  

This is not an option if you are part of the Health Canada program.  Additionally, we help people with end of life.  In this year alone, I have done six bedside registrations of people dying in hospice, in hospital or in their home.  It can take eight to 20 weeks for Health Canada to process an application through their program.  If you have been given two months to live, as is often the case, it is physically impossible for those people to use medical cannabis legally at the end of life.  They simply cannot be covered by our federal medical marijuana program.  

I do not think this committee has been made aware of the current situation where less than 20 per cent of people in the federal program order their cannabis from Health Canada.  Approximately half have the right to produce their own and about 30 per cent are accessing it knowingly through the black market or compassion societies.  Of the people who order their cannabis from Health Canada, 1,400 of those 4,000 users in the program owe Health Canada for that cannabis supply.  They have either chosen not to pay for it or are not able to pay for it.  As a result, Health Canada is owed almost $1.5 million by federal program cannabis users.  Health Canada has actually cut off 636 people from accessing that supply of cannabis, which is Canada's only legal supply of medical cannabis.  Those people are forced back onto the street or they are forced to suffer without support.

The Chair:  How do your prices compare with Health Canada's? 

Mr. Lucas:  Our prices range from $6 to $9 per gram for cannabis.  Health Canada's cannabis is approximately $5 per gram plus tax and delivery.  We do not charge tax on our supply.  

The alternatives we supply -- oils and tinctures -- are made in-house.  They are also lower cost alternatives to smoked cannabis even through the black market.  A bottle of our oral mucosal spray, which contains 400 sprays, might last a patient two weeks and is about $10.  The Vancouver Island Compassion Society also gave away, as a non-profit, $10,000 worth of cannabis last year.  Each of our members is eligible for a donation each week.  Many of our low income users take advantage of that weekly.

The Chair:  We have scheduled an unusually long schedule with you, but it is not infinite.

(French follows -- Senator Nolin -- C'est pourquoi je) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Nolin : C'est pourquoi je me suis inscrit à la deuxième ronde de questions.

(The Chair : We have to keep …)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French -- Senator Nolin -- deuxième ronde de questions.) 

The Chair:  We have to keep both our questions and our answers tight.

Senator Campbell:  I do not know why you would be surprised.  This is a government that cannot produce nuclear isotopes.  Why would you think they can grow medical marijuana?

Does anyone know how many people are charged every year that would be suppliers to compassion societies?   

Mr. Tousaw:  I do not have a figure.  However, my practice is, by and large, defending persons accused of violating cannabis laws in this country.  A substantial portion of my practice is persons who produce marijuana for others for medical purposes, for themselves for medical purposes or possess it for medical purposes.  It is not uncommon.  I get calls weekly from people who have run into trouble with law enforcement either because of their medical cannabis production or use.

Mr. Lucas:  I have published and researched on medical marijuana in Canada extensively.  There are about 15 well-established dispensaries in Canada.  About half of them have been a victim of some kind of police enforcement.  They have been charged with production or distribution of cannabis.

Senator Campbell:  In general, what are the results of those charges?

Mr. Tousaw:  On behalf of my clients, I have had some significant successes.  I mentioned the case of Mr. Beren 
receiving an absolute discharge for his production.  

It is not uncommon currently for those charged to go to court.  Typically, they enter a guilty plea if they are a medical cannabis producer for themselves or others.  They submit the facts at sentencing hearings.  The hearings are an opportunity for the judge to view the circumstances of the offence and the offender.  It is very common to receive either absolute or conditional discharges.  

This legislation absolutely and completely takes that off the table.  The maximum penalty for production goes from seven years to 14 years making these offences no longer eligible for discharges.  That does not even take into account the impact of the mandatory sentences.

Mr. Lucas:  No legitimate dispensary in Canada has ever been successfully prosecuted.  This will change completely under Bill C-15.

Senator Campbell:  You had one person who was charged with producing 1,000 plants.

Mr. Tousaw:  Yes, that is correct.  It was Mr. Beren.

Senator Campbell:  That is a lot of plants.  

I am trying to make sense of this.  I think this is a stupid bill.  Marijuana should not be in this bill.  It is simply here because we have not recognized that marijuana is a lot healthier than OxyContin or Percocet, which are commonly used.  

Mr. Tousaw:  Or alcohol.

Senator Campbell:  If you wanted to be a successful grower, what would be the minimum number of plants that you could grow to supply your client?

Mr. Tousaw:  We have to put it in context.  One thousand plants sounds like a lot of plants.  In reality, I represent people all the time charged with growing more than 1,000 plants.  It is literally a drop in the bucket in terms of the marijuana produced in this country.  Remember that Canadians alone consume between 6 million and 10 million grams of marijuana every week in this country.  We enjoy cannabis.  

We also need to put into context that there were 400 people receiving Mr. Beren's cannabis.  That breaks down to approximately 2.5 plants per recipient.  Economies of scale come into play.  This was being grown in one outbuilding -- not a very large outbuilding -- on a rural property.  While one thousand plants seems like a large number, it is actually not a big number at all in the context of marijuana production.

Senator Campbell:  Should we even be putting a number on it?

Mr. Tousaw:  No.  I think putting numbers on it is frankly an exercise in absurdity.  You will end up spreading out the marketplace.  If non-medical people know that they will be subject to a three-year sentence for growing 1,000 or nine months for under 200 plants, you will likely set up five locations and grow 199 plants in each.  We will end up seeing a proliferation in the number of marijuana production facilities throughout this country.  

It is exactly the opposite result that we all want to achieve, which is to get these production facilities out of suburbs and basements.  Let us grow these plants where we grow all other plants, on farms and in greenhouses.  Then, we do not have to worry about the problems allegedly associated with marijuana grow operations.

Mr. Lucas:  Mr. Beren, at the time he was arrested, was the sole producer for the Vancouver Island Compassion Society.  He was the sole supplier for 400 members.  As a result of that raid, we now have six different suppliers scattered throughout Vancouver Island and the gulf islands supplying our membership.  In other words, we have gone from a sole easily managed production facility to six facilities, which is far more challenging to manage.  To put it into context, those two and a half plans per person, as a legal medical cannabis user in Canada, I am licensed to produce 49 plants for myself.  The 49 plants I am licensed to produce through Health Canada pales in comparison to 2.5 plants that Mr. Beren was producing for our members.

Senator Campbell:  I suggested to Sgt. Doucette 
that thirty is considered personal use in British Columbia.

Mr. Tousaw:  I think it is a decent rule of thumb.  If this committee is to pass this legislation -- and I urge it not to -- the best thing to do to protect medical marijuana users, providers and distributers is simply to add an exemption taking medical marijuana not only out of mandatory minimum sentences, but out of the CDSA entirely.  In that case, you can still have prohibition of marijuana to the extent it is needed or wanted -- I do not think it is needed or wanted.  At least we will not be jailing, arresting and incarcerating people who are doing this for compassionate purposes and to help people struggling with illness.

Senator Campbell:  Would they have a licence? 

Mr. Tousaw:  The problem is that the government's medical marijuana system is inaccessible.  Ninety-nine point five per cent of the medical marijuana users in this country are not protected by the government's regime.

Senator Campbell:  However, they have a prescription from their doctor, do they not? 

Mr. Tousaw:  Most do, yes. 

Senator Campbell:  There must be some rules.

Mr. Lucas:  Thirteen states have legalized medical cannabis use, including California, which has tens of thousands of dispensaries.  The State of Oregan has an affirmative defence program.  That means that, if you are arrested for use, production or distribution of cannabis, the charges are dropped, providing you could prove in court it was for medical purposes. 

They also have a state-run medical marijuana program which is an interesting comparison with our own.  It started in 1999, is centrally run and you need a doctor's recommendation to join the program and yet they have registered 20,000 people with one-tenth the population of Canada in the same period of time we have registered 4,000 people.  I think that illustrates some of the problems with our own federal bureaucracy and program in regards to medical cannabis.  It also gives us an idea of what can and should happen in our federal program.

Senator Joyal:  Thank you for your testimony.

I listened carefully to Mr. Tousaw and Mr. Lucas.  I was left puzzled because you argue in your presentation that many of your customers, or the people with whom you are in daily contact, would find themselves in prison if this bill were to be passed and implemented.

However, the commissioner of the federal penitentiaries testified in front of us on November 19.  In his presentation, and afterwards, as well, he stated the following:  "At this time, we do not have any data to assess whether there will be a direct impact on CSC's population levels."

We asked him questions.  I personally asked him questions.  I said it was strange, because, this bill's impact is to put people in prison.  The gist of the bill is to impose mandatory minimums and there are sentences in the bill which are longer than two years, as you saw.  It should have an impact.

His answers were very elusive, to use a diplomatic word.  He did not want to commit himself to saying that the bill would have a financial impact on the number of people in prison, and he was elusive as to the costs this bill would entail.

In our own experience and in view of his answers to us that he cannot really measure a significant increase in populations or inmate populations after that bill is implemented, what is your own answer to that conclusion of the commissioner?

He is a very responsible person.  He is the head of the federal penitentiaries of this country.

Mr. Tousaw:  The point of the bill is to jail people, and the point of the bill is to jail people for periods of time in excess of the time in which you would get provincial sentences; in other words, for anything over two years, you get a federal sentence.

It boggles the mind to think there will not be an impact on the costs associated with the correctional system.  We see from the experience of the United States that their regime of mandatory minimum sentences have, in effect, bankrupted their prison systems, while also leading to conditions of incarceration that are, in my submission, inhumane and in violation of people's human rights.

Ms. Belle-Isle talked about there being seven times the rate of HIV within prisons versus the regular population, and thirty times the rate of Hepatitis C.  There is violence in prisons.  Prisons are recruiting grounds for gangs.  Prisons do not teach you have how to reintegrate into society.  They do the opposite.

In my submission, we should be look for ways to keep people out of prison, not to put them there.  However, perhaps the suggestion that this will not affect the budgets of the Correctional Service of Canada was not the witness's intent.  Perhaps it was that they do not have data.

Putting people in prison will, of course, cost money.

The Chair:  In fairness to him, I think it was that he did not have hard data and was unwilling to hazard an informed guess. 

Mr. Tousaw:  Much in the same way the Minister of Justice did not have any hard data.

Senator Joyal:  I will quote his answers.  When he said he had data, it was in reference to Bill C-25.  He had that data but he did not want to release it.  However, on this bill, it was not on all the answers.  I remember very well the arguments I had with him.  I said, "If you state this and, after two years of review, we come with the figures, then your credibility will be at stake."

I do not want to argue with the Chair.  That is not the purpose.  I am trying to understand the impact of this bill on the inmate population.

Mr. Lucas:  When this bill was formerly call Bill C-26 and I had a chance to testify in front of the House of Commons on that bill, it is largely unchanged, as you all know.  The justice minister of British Columbia at the time estimated this would lead to 700 more imprisonments per year.  He also estimated and made public comments that it might mean the need to build extra prisons because our prisons are already overloaded.  

Additionally, he had concerns this would actually displace more violent criminals.  In other words, we would be putting nonviolent drug offenders in jail cells that might better serve more violent criminals.  I have no doubt this would have an impact and that was the testimony of our justice minister at the time and those were his public statements.

Senator Joyal:  I will move to another question to Ms. Belle-Isle.

(French follows -- Senator Joyal:  Vous avez témoigné au sujet...) 

(après anglais)(Sén. Joyal)

Vous avez témoigné au sujet du nombre de prisonniers qui pouvaient souffrir de VIH/Sida ou de l'hépatite C. Est-ce que vous avez un nombre exact dans la population de prisonniers dans les prisons fédérales actuellement? Vous avez mentionné le chiffre d'environ 20 p. 100 de prisonniers qui pourraient être atteints de VIH/Sida. Pouvez-vous être plus précise sur ces chiffres?

Mme Belle-Isle : Je ne crois pas que j'ai référé à 20 p. 100. Le chiffre qu'on m'a donné provient des Services correctionnels Canada. On rapporte qu'en prison fédérale, il y a de sept à dix fois plus de cas de VIH/Sida que dans la population en général et qu'il y a 30 fois plus de cas d'hépatite C. C'est vraiment le seul chiffre que j'ai en ce moment. Cela provient du gouvernement fédéral, des Services correctionnels.

Le sénateur Joyal : Est-ce qu'une personne qui souffre du VIH/Sida ou de l'hépatite C peut consommer de la marijuana en prison si son médecin lui en prescrit.

Mme Belle-Isle : Non absolument pas, malheureusement, non. Il y a eu des cas où on a essayé de défendre les droits des personnes pour pouvoir faire cela en prison mais absolument pas. Cela n'a pas été approuvé. On leur donne à la place des produits synthétiques, pharmaceutiques de THC que les gens n'aiment pas beaucoup. Comme M. Jeet-Kei Leung l’a décrit tantôt, quand c'est du THC pur sans les autres cannabioïdes inclus dans la plante, cela produit des effets néfastes. On devient plus excité, plus anxieux. Ce n'est pas du tout comme la plante quand c'est la plante en entier. Non, ils ne peuvent pas fumer en prison du tout. Les gens ont donc tendance à prendre des substances illégales, on ne parle pas de cannabis à des fins médicales, ils vont s'injecter plutôt parce qu'ils ne peuvent pas vraiment fumer en prison, peu importe la substance.

M. Lucas : Ce n’est pas seulement la fumée. On a essayé de défendre un prisonnier qui pouvait utiliser cela légalement et les biscuits en prison n'ont pas été permis non plus. Ce n’est pas seulement la fumée, tu n’as pas le droit à la marijuana d'une façon ou d'une autre en prison.

Le sénateur Joyal : Et cela a déjà été contesté devant les tribunaux?

M. Lucas : Absolument. M. Conroy a fait un ou deux cas avec cela une ou deux fois.

Le sénateur Joyal : Combien y a-t-il de centres d’aide aux personnes autorisées à consommer de la marijuana à des fins médicales au Canada?

Mme Belle-Isle : Une quinzaine.

M. Lucas : Vous parlez des clubs de compassion?

Le sénateur Joyal : Oui.

M. Lucas : Il y a à peu près une quinzaine de clubs de compassion bien établis.

M. Lucas : À Vancouver par exemple, il y en a trois ou quatre, à Victoria, deux, à Montréal au moins deux probablement trois, Toronto à peu près trois, mais aucun n’est légal. Tout le travail qu'on fait malheureusement n'est pas régi par Santé Canada ou le gouvernement fédéral ou provincial.

Le sénateur Joyal : Sont-ils tous susceptibles d’être l'objet de poursuites judiciaires?

M. Lucas : Oui, absolument. Je me suis fait arrêter pour la distribution de marijuana médicale dans mon club de compassion. À peu près la moitié ont souffert des arrestations de la police.

Le sénateur Joyal : Dans votre évaluation de ce projet de loi, vous arrivez à la conclusion que, si comme vous l'avez dit dans une de vos réponses antérieures, dans les poursuites entreprises contre ces clubs, aucune n’a été admise. Vous estimez que si ce projet de loi est adopté tel quel, la plupart des clubs pourraient faire l'objet d'intervention policière et de saisie et de poursuite?

M. Lucas : Dès le lendemain de l’adoption du projet de loi, si la police arrive, ce serait une peine minimale obligatoire de trois ans pour M. Leung et ses employés parce qu'une école vient de s'établir à quelques coins de rue de leur établissement. Il en serait de même pour mes employés. On parlerait de deux à trois ans de peine minimale obligatoire. Aucun juge ne pourrait arrêter cela et ce serait fini. Quand on comprend que leur club produit de la marijuana pour 5000 personnes, notre club en produit pour 1000 personnes, c'est déjà encore plus de monde juste à Victoria et Vancouver qu'il y en a dans tout le programme canadien de Santé Canada. C'est un impact sérieux. 

(Mr Leung : It is true that we have been at our location on Commercial …)

(anglais suit)

(Following French)

Mr. Leung:  It is true that we have been at our location on Commercial Drive and 14th in Vancouver for 11 years, and a school opened kitty corner from us about four years ago, with whom we have a very good relationship.  They have toured, and we have shown them around, and we have good communication.  We are concerned about what the impact of this bill would have on us with this school across from us.

In addition, there is a related issue in terms of the inclusion of clone cuttings into the count of plants because they are not producing plants, they are not productive plants, but they are necessary to sustaining the crop.  If they are included in the count, then 80 per cent of our cultivators would fall under the 200 plus plants category and to the minimum of at least one year. 

Senator Wallace:  Mr. Tousaw, I have a short supplementary question.  Obviously you have a lot of concern about the implications from the point of view of compassion clubs.  The federal Minister of Justice and provincial Attorney Generals have had many concerns about the drug trade, drug production, drug trafficking, importation and exportation.  As I understand it, Bill C-15 is the result of many years of discussion and consultation between all of the provinces and the federal government.  My understanding is that the ministers of justice from the provincial governments are supportive of Bill C-15 and, in particular, the Minister of Justice from British Columbia.  I am wondering if you were aware of that.  You did have comments about the implications that the bill could have to the administration of justice in British Columbia, but the minister seemed to be supportive.  Are you aware of that? 

Mr. Tousaw:  I am aware of that.  I am also aware that you had senior Crown counsel testifying about the actual effects on the ground in terms of their workload, the backlog of cases, the length of trial, denial of bail and reverse onus provisions.  It is easy to understand why elected officials will support this bill.  One of the speakers from a group called Law Enforcement Against Prohibition said the war of drugs is not winnable, but it eminently fundable, and it is something politicians love to run on.

The reality is that if these are thinking people that have looked at the evidence, they know that this bill will not affect the drug trade in British Columbia, in Canada, in the world.  It simply will not do it.  The evidence is not there in all the evidence that we have from every other jurisdiction that has tried this.  The United States does it a lot stronger than we are planning to do, and yet there is still a drug trade in the United States and lots of drugs on the streets.  In 2008, the percentage of high school seniors in the United States who reported they could obtain drugs fairly or very easily was astounding:  83.9 per cent can obtain marijuana easily or very easily, 47 per cent, amphetamine, 42 per cent, cocaine, 35 per cent, crack.

This program of interdiction, supply, attempted reduction does not work.  All the witnesses before you have said the only things that work in terms of dealing with problematic substance use are treatment and prevention.  Yet, this government is willing to spend a lot of money prosecuting, policing and locking people up.  

I read just the other day that another rehab centre in British Columbia has been closed, this one serving the north of British Columbia.  Teens with substance abuse problems now have to travel hundreds of kilometres simply to get treatment.  It is the wrong way to go, and anybody who looks at the evidence knows it.

The Chair:  Senator Wallace, I will put you down for a main round, if you wish, but we are on supplementaries on Senator Joyal's time.  Senator Nolin has a supplementary, and Senator Campbell has a supplementary.   

Senator Campbell:  Mine is not a supplementary.

Mr. Lucas:  Senator Wallace, I am an elected official.  I poll public opinion on a number of issues on a regular basis.  It is important and key that we do that, but when it comes time to making key decisions on legislation that will affect Canadians as significantly as this, we have to look at the evidence base.  It simply cannot be based on the opinions of the justice ministers of relative provinces.  

In regard to one of the questions posed by Senator Joyal about statistics, we need to look at the evidence.  We cannot be selective on the statistics.  We need to look at the totality of evidence.  If you are truly to make an evidence-based decision on Bill C-15, you simply cannot support this bill, not based on what you heard and know so far.

Senator Nolin:  One of you referred to the 14 years preventing your client, Mr. Baron, the provider, the sole provider of Mr. Lucas, from an absolute discharge.  Can you explain how the bill could do that?

Mr. Tousaw:  The eligibility for discharge is under the Criminal Code.  You can be disentitled to discharges based on the maximum length of sentence.

Senator Nolin:  Are you referring to section 730(1) of the Criminal Code? 

Mr. Tousaw:  I think I probably am, although I have never been good with numbers.  I saw several people walking in with the heavy black books, and I leave it to them.  You are disentitled.  If you are charged with possession for the purpose of trafficking over three kilograms of marijuana, it carries a 14 year maximum and you are not entitled to a conditional discharge.  If you are charged with production, it is a seven year maximum and you are entitled to seek.  Once you have mandatory minimum sentencing, you are disentitled from discharges simply because of that.  If this bill goes forward, I urge you to craft an exemption for medical marijuana producers, distributors and patients, because otherwise the two gentlemen to my left could be facing jail for a long time.

Senator Joyal:  The bill also deals with trafficking and importing.  I understand that, because of your role, you addressed mainly production.  Do you have any comments on the section on trafficking and importing? 

Mr. Tousaw:  I do.  The reality is that this bill will not affect the sentencing for importing quantities of drugs into Canada.  It will simply not do that.  The law is already there.  Judges regularly hand down lengthy terms in prison for importing drugs into Canada.  I heard the Minister of Justice talk about how this bill is to target the high-level organized criminals that use violence and prey on Canadian society by importing poison into our country.  I have heard that ad nauseum.  It takes about five minutes to do a search on a free database called CanLII to pull up reasons for sentencing on importing cases to see clearly.  There are
 R v. Canyon, 2009, Manitoba Court of Queen's Bench 280, trafficking PPT, cocaine and ecstasy, 40 kilograms of cocaine, 12 years; R
. v. Marchesi, 2009, ABCA 304, trafficking PPT, cocaine, seven grams of cocaine only, no criminal record, three years incarceration; R. v. Lee, conspiracy, trafficking marijuana, 27 months in prison; R. v. Smith, cross-border trafficking, six years in the penitentiary.

There are not high level importers of drugs into this country being sentenced two slaps on the wrist.  That does not happen.  It is not happening.  This bill does not affect the sentences that will be handed out to high-level drug dealers.  It will only catch the low hanging fruit, the very people we hear this bill is not designed to target.

Mr. Lucas:  In fact, it will divert necessary resources away from the importing and the trafficking of adults to youth.  These are the concerns, when Canadians talk about concerns around drugs and drug-related crime, which I suggest are more prohibition-related crimes.  The importing into Canada and the trafficking of adults to youth is absolutely where we should be directing our police resources and absolutely what we should be concerned about, but unfortunately that is not what will be targeted.  We know that from our current arrest rates in Canada where 50,000 cannabis users are charged with personal possession every year.  We know that from our police arrest statistics.  If we want to do that, then we need to change this bill considerably so that it does focus on importing or trafficking of adults to kids.  Otherwise, it will be drawing away resources that are desperately needed, as you heard from our police services right now, who are short of staff and resources.

We need the be able to direct those resources to the areas that matter to Canadians and those are the areas that matter.

Senator Milne:  Ms. Belle-Isle, you said that doctors are reluctant to sign medical use application forms.  Why is that?

Ms. Belle-Isle:  That is a good question.  I can only speak on what the people living with HIV have told me.  I have not spoken directly to physicians, except for the few who happen to be on the stakeholder advisory committee with me.

From what people tell me, they are reluctant because they are often concerned about liability.  They do not feel they have enough information on cannabis as a "drug" as it is not an approved drug.  It is a herbal medication of which they do not have much information.

They do not feel they are informed well enough to provide advice on dosing and on how to use cannabis.  It becomes a discussion between patient and doctor, based on the patient's experience using cannabis for medical purposes and a decision between patient and doctor.

As Mr. Lucas pointed out, and people told me this while I was conducting the focus groups, physicians seemed to be more likely to sign or provide a letter of diagnosis, which is what it comes down to, to state a symptom or a reason why a person might get some benefit from the use of cannabis as opposed to prescribing cannabis, because you can only prescribe an approved drug and it is not one at the moment.

These are liability issues.  Also, the Canadian Medical Protective Association, which is the body that insures them, had taken a strong stand against physicians participating in the program, and have even designed a kind of a waiver that alleviates the responsibility of the physician and to protect physicians from liability charges.  The patient can take that to their physician and ask the physician to be free of all responsibility and the patient takes on the responsibility for using cannabis as a medical treatment.

Senator Milne:  Mr. Lucas, you say there are 400 physicians who are actively sending people to you?

Mr. Lucas:  It is 350.

Senator Milne:  They are not sending them to you with a prescription but with a recommendation that this may work.

Mr. Lucas:  That is absolutely right.  We have to go back to the dawn of this program.  When Health Canada established this program, the Canadian Medical Association, provincial medical organizations like the British Columbia College of physicians, as well as the Canadian Medical Protective Asociation, which insures 95 per cent of doctors in Canada, all made strong statements against being the so-called gatekeepers of this program.  They continue in policy statements to state that they do not want to be the gatekeepers of this program.  They do not see that role as appropriate for them.  Unfortunately, there is no other obvious group to take responsibility for that approach.  We know that cannabis is a medicine.  The medical community has to take some responsibility for it, but because it has not gone through the checks and balances of other traditional pharmaceuticals, there is concern about that.

My gastroenterologist filled out my form -- I am a legal user -- as did my GP.  He has been clear; he says, "Do not tell anyone I have filled out your form.  I am not filling out any other forms.  I am not comfortable with the process."  I think the 33-page application, and the yearly renewal that has to be done after that, creates a level of discomfort amongst physicians because this is dissimilar to every other drug prescription process they go through.  Doctors have never been polled specifically about why they will not fill out those forms, but it is clear that so many of them will not.

Mr. Tousaw:  The waiver form that Ms. Belle-Isle indicated that was put out by the CMPA for the benefit of our Quebec physicians is ineffective in Quebec because you cannot pre-release medical liability under the Quebec code.

Senator Milne:  So it is just a piece of paper.  

The Chair:  That is under the civil code.

Mr. Tousaw:  That is correct.  It is ineffective in the province of Quebec.

Senator Milne:  Ms. Belle-Isle and Mr. Lucas, what sort of oversight do you have over your producers to ensure that they are just supplying you and not recreational users?

Mr. Leung:  When a cultivator signs a contract with us, they agree to a possible site inspection.  They also submit hydro bills so that we can compare the amount of power used with the yield that they supply to us and ensure there are not large discrepancies.

Senator Milne:  Do you have a certain backlog of experience that tells you if they use so many kilowatts per month they will have so many plants? 

Mr. Leung:  That is right.

Mr. Lucas:  To add to that, the site inspection is a good way to assure some of that.  As Mr. Leung suggested as well, our organization does tests for heavy metals, biological impurities and cannabinoids
  as well in order to ensure some purity and quality control of product, but most important, all of these producers could be supplying the black market and making a much greater profit if they choose to.  In other words, they choose to grow cannabis specifically for distribution to critically and chronically ill Canadians.  They do so because it gives them a sense of worth, a sense of social capital and of community-building, and a sense of pride in the work they do.  They do so because they choose to.  If they ever chose to go on to the black market, they certainly could make more money there. 

Senator Milne:  What is the difference in price? 

Mr. Lucas:  The difference in price right now in B.C. for triple A organic, as we call the highest grade of organic cannabis, probably goes for about $2,800 to $3,000 a pound right now, in Victoria and Vancouver.  The Compassion Society will pay between $2,000 and $2,400 a pound for it.  We are talking about a 30 per cent reduction in many cases, and that is 30 per cent that is a pure profit margin.   

Senator Nolin:  Senator Milne introduced the question of production.  What is the link between your institutions and the bill, and the production and the new sentences for production, which is the key? 

You have alluded many times to the fact that medical grade marijuana is 70 per cent organic.  Therefore, let us go back to Mr. Barren.  Mr. Barren was producing all the substance for the VICS in Victoria, Mr. Lucas' institution.  Was he producing one strain, or how many strains?  Was it organic?  Was it also available for the recreational business?

Mr. Tousaw:  The plan for the VICS –

Senator Nolin:  I keep going back to Mr. Barren because it is a public case.

Mr. Tousaw:  It is a reported decision.

Senator Nolin:  It is reported; everyone can read about it.  I do not want to get into any of your other producers who may not want to have their names cited publicly.

Mr. Tousaw:  I will provide the committee with the reasons for sentence because those are not publicly reported.  I do have them and I will provide them to the committee. 

Senator Nolin:  Please do; we need to have them quickly.

The Chair:  Do you have them with you now?

Mr. Tousaw:  Only in electronic format; I am happy to email them to Ms. Richardson.  I have my BlackBerry, so I could probably do it as we sit here.  

Mr. Barren was producing only for the Vancouver Island Compassion Society.  At the time of the arrest, he had about 15 different strains in production.  He had about 50 different genetics that he was sustaining in mother plant form.  

Cannabis is grown, like a lot of plants – apples, for example – not traditionally by seed but by clone so you preserve the genetic typing of the strain.  You keep mother plants that you can take cuttings from.  He had about 50 different strains, plus a hemp placebo that he was growing at the production facility, all for the use of the members of the VICS.  He was being paid $30,000 a year on a salary basis to produce the cannabis, which is obviously significantly less than he could have earned on the black market.

One of the things that Mr. Leung talked about that was tragic in the arrest is that they lost all those genetics.  Therefore, they lost the ability to continue the research that was ongoing about which strains worked well for which symptoms because the police destroyed all the plants.  

Therefore, you have a situation where not only –

Senator Nolin:  Without notifying Mr. Barren?  The CDSA still applies to Mr. Barren.

Mr. Tousaw:  Absolutely.

Senator Nolin:  Why was he never informed that they were destroying his property?

Mr. Tousaw:  When the police raid and arrest you, they tend to chop down all the plants before they leave the premises.

Senator Nolin:  It is not in the bill, but that is probably a debate for another day.

Mr. Tousaw:  You have heard Mr. Lucas say they have six suppliers.  Now they have growing production facilities in a number of different locations as opposed to one location, one provider, easy oversight, easy monitoring and all organic.  It is now diversified.  I think that is the wrong direction.

Mr. Lucas:  For the five years prior to the raid, we had been trying to develop strains that were specific to certain symptomatology.  One specific strain was to address chronic pain, which is one of the biggest factors in terms of symptoms, if not the primary illness that people see us with.  

The only reason I mention it is that we lost, as Mr. Tousaw suggests, all of that research in one afternoon.  It is literally the equivalent of someone going into your office while you are here today and taking all of your equipment, all of your files everything you have worked on, and for it to disappear - not for a month or a year, but forever.  It was five years of research and genetics that were gone.  

As he also suggested, we were growing and ultimately were charged with growing non-psychoactive hemp.  We were growing hemp because we had ethics approval to do a double blind clinical trial on smoke cannabis and chronic pain.  We needed a hemp placebo in order to do that double blind so that people would know if they were smoking hemp or a high-THC strain of cannabis.  Ironically, those plants showed up in the charges as well.  

It is also worth noting we were growing some of Health Canada's strains so we would see if we could do a better job than Health Canada – or at least see how it turned out.   

Senator Nolin:  Probably Ms. Belle-Isle will be able to answer, but Mr. Lucas and Mr. Lee can jump in.  Regarding the chronic pain area of symptoms, is it covered by MMAR, which is the Medical Marijuana Access Regulation?

Ms. Belle-Isle:  When you look at the MMAR, there are two columns.  One is the diseases and the other is the associated symptoms.  For HIV, I believe pain is under there, but also for – 

Senator Nolin:  One moment please.  You know a lot about your subject but we do not.  What you are saying is first someone needs to be identified through a disease and then go into the symptoms, is that right?

Ms. Belle-Isle:  I would not say it is an either/or.  It is both at the same time.   

Senator Nolin:  One plus?

Ms. Belle-Isle:  Yes.  If you are a person living with HIV, there are many symptoms associated with HIV, pain being one of them.  If you are a person with severe arthritis, the symptom associated with that is pain; lots of grandmothers enjoy that.

Senator Nolin:  There is one symptom most Canadians understand, which is pain.  Chronic pain is what compared to pain?

Mr. Lucas:  Chronic pain is a pain that does not respond well to traditional treatments.  It is associated with a number of conditions – often, as Ms. Belle-Isle said, neuropathic pain.  People with MS, people who suffer a neuropathy through conditions like fibromyalgia and HIV/AIDS suffer from chronic pain.

Senator Nolin:  Those diseases are all covered by the MMAR.  Why are Canadians not going through the MMAR?

Mr. Lucas:  The one caveat I would suggest is if you have HIV/AIDS or MS and suffer from chronic pain, you are in category one and you can get into the program with a simple doctor's recommendation.  There is a category two that sets up a slightly higher hoop to jump through, which is you also need the consent of a specialist.  With my hepatitis C, my gastroenterologist has to be in support of my use of cannabis, and/or my general practitioner.

Ms. Belle-Isle:  Can I clarify?  The program no longer requires a signature of that said specialist.  The physician who signs the form just must say he or she has consulted with a specialist.

Senator Nolin:  Mr. Tousaw, you keep talking about the amendment that we could do.  Do you have any suggestions? 

Mr. Tousaw:  I will provide that electronically.  I am happy to do that.  I have several suggested amendments that might ameliorate some of the negative consequences of this bill.

Senator Nolin:  How fast can you do that?

Mr. Tousaw:  I can do it this evening.  

If I can add to this, I do not want to create more confusion about the MMAR, but let us be clear about something; if you suffer from chronic pain as a result of arthritis, your general practitioner can sign your application forms and you do not need to consult with a physician.  

If you suffer from chronic pain as a result of migraines, you are in a different category.  You must see your general practitioner and you must also consult with a specialist; then your physician must make certain declarations about that consultation.  It is a mixed bag of symptoms.  

At the end of the day, you could obtain medical marijuana in this country provided you have physician support for any condition and any symptom, as long as you are able to jump through the hoops that have been put up by the federal government.  Theoretically, you could obtain medical marijuana for stubbing your toe and the pain associated with that if your general physician and specialist will support that.  

Of course, we see from the testimony that they do not even support applications for HIV/AIDS, so it is clear that will not occur.  However, I wanted to be clear about the breakdown of the two categories.

The Chair:  Senator Campbell, if you do not mind, Senator Rivest has not put a question yet and he would like to.

(French follows – Senator Rivest:  J’aimerais tout d'abord vous féliciter) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Rivest : J’aimerais tout d'abord vous féliciter. Je suis impressionné de la qualité de votre travail. Je partage l'avis du sénateur Campbell. À mon avis, ce projet de loi n’est rien d’autre qu’une parade politique, mais dont les conséquences humaines et sur le système judiciaire seront considérables.

Maître Tousaw, vous avez dit au sénateur Nolin que vous prépariez certains amendements. Vous vous trouvez déjà dans une espèce de flou juridique où, dans l'état actuel du droit, vous risquez d’être poursuivi. Sur le plan juridique, les sentences seront plus lourdes et le danger sera plus grand pour vous et ceux et celles qui travaillent pour vous.

Dans la mesure où le statut n’est toujours pas défini pour les groupes de compassion, comment pouvons-nous faire une exception, dans le cadre de ce projet de loi, pour vous protéger? Je suppose que votre groupe et d’autres organismes qui, comme vous, ont accompli un travail remarquable, ont pris certaines démarches. 

Comment se fait-il qu’on ne réussisse pas à vous donner un statut juridique qui réglerait bien des problèmes ?

(Mr. Tousaw : I wish I knew the answer …)  (anglais suit)

(Following French -- Senator Rivest -- bien des problèmes?) 

Mr. Tousaw:  I wish I knew the answer to the second question.  Various courts that have considered the constitutionality of the medical marijuana access regulations have urged the government to look carefully at the issue of regulating what the courts have called the "network of unlicensed suppliers" traditionally supplying medical marijuana users.  For example, the Ontario Court of Appeal in Hitzig v. Canada
, which struck portions of the MMAR
, suggested then when the federal government went back to the drawing board, it ought to consider licensing these compassion clubs.  The government chose not to do that -- I think with tragic consequences.

To protect groups, I argued before the judge 
that the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act needs an exemption for the production, distribution and possession of marijuana intended for medical purposes.  Our law currently contemplates general and specific intent crimes.  This bill contemplates specific intent crimes in the area of cannabis production.  In other words, you are not subject to the mandatory minimum unless the production is for the purposes of trafficking.  

In my respectful submission, it is not all that different to exempt from the auspices of this bill, and from the CDSA entirely, marijuana produced or distributed for medical purposes.  That does not solve all the problems.  People will still get arrested.  It will solve the main problem, which is that people who possess, produce and distribute medical marijuana will no longer have their section seven rights -- liberty and security of the person -- implicated by potential convictions in a criminal court.  

The degree to which organizations like VICS and BCCCS, which operate transparently and openly, seek legitimacy will be the degree to which they avoid police contact.  It does not take tools away from the police or prosecutors.  It creates a more compassionate and fair framework to protect groups like these two organizations that do good work.

Mr. Lucas:  Politicians have certainly considered putting forward bills to add to the legalization of dispensaries.  Libby Davies, in the House of Commons, has been one of the main supporters of these dispensaries.  We hope to see action through a private members' bill or otherwise that would help defend medical cannabis dispensaries.

In support of Mr. Tousaw's notion, it would be remarkable if out of the quagmire of Bill C-15, and Bill C-26 that came before it, came positive legislation for medical cannabis users throughout Canada and positive legislation and protection for medical cannabis dispensaries in Canada.  If there is any good you can do through this bill, that would be it.  I urge you to give serious consideration to what Mr. Tousaw will likely be supplying before the end of the day.  It would be small recompense for Canadians affected by Bill C-15.  At least our critically and chronically ill Canadians will be spared the main impact of the bill.

Senator Joyal:  I have a question about the definition of "trafficking."  To your knowledge, does it happen that a person with a supply of medical marijuana would supply marijuana to another person who suffers from similar conditions that has not been successful in getting a supply of the drug? 

Mr. Lucas:  The sad irony is that because of the poor quality of Health Canada's cannabis and a lot of the cannabis on the black market, medical users -- whether licensed or not -- often choose to produce their own cannabis.  They do this to reduce costs, to guarantee better and safer quality or to grow strains helpful for them.  

When they find a strain helpful to treat some of the spasticity associated with MS, it is natural for them to want to share it within their local community of fellow patients.  It is absolutely not unusual to hear of medical cannabis patients who share their medication with fellow patients in a cooperative effort.  

Under the current law, this is trafficking.  As you have been told, passing a joint is also trafficking.  When it comes to the level of dispensaries and the gram or two grams that we dispense for patients on a daily basis, that is unquestionably trafficking.  We have keep very good records on that trafficking.  We have never denied it.  When we show up in court, it is with the clear intent to show that we are accountable and transparent about the work we do.

Senator Joyal:  Mr. Lucas, I was in Parliament when we adopted a bill to compensate victims of hepatitis C.  Have you benefited from that bill?

Mr. Lucas:  I am thankful to you for that, Senator Joyal.  It allowed my wife and I to put a down payment on a house.  Some of the compensation I received provincially led to the establishment of the Vancouver Island Compassion Society.  I was diagnosed in 1995 and received my first payment through the Province of Ontario.  I used some of that funding to start the dispensary.  

In other words, yes and thank you.

Senator Joyal:  I was not begging for the thank you.   

Mr. Lucas:  I thank you nonetheless, not only for me.  My wife is the executive director the hepatitis C society of British Columbia
.  She, still to this day, helps people fill out the forms to allow them get the federal compensation.  It has made a huge difference in people's lives, particularly those more symptomatic than I.

The Chair:  Before I let you go, Mr. Leung, the best procedural advice we can get at this point is that it is, at best, unclear whether committees can receive petitions.  It is quite possibly not within the powers of a committee.  Therefore, to avoid controversy, I will suggest that you hand your petition to Senator Nolin instead.  As a senator, he has the right to present any petition in the Senate.  The fact that it cannot be received in committee has nothing to do with the fact that petitions can be received in the Senate.  Thank you for thinking of the committee, but we will pass on this one for everyone's protection.

Mr. Leung:  That would be a lovely solution.  Thank you very much.

The Chair:  I thank you all very much indeed.  It was extremely interesting testimony and helpful to us.  

As our last witness in our quite detailed and thorough study of this bill, we are very fortunate to have with us Paul Saint-Denis, Senior Counsel, Criminal Law Policy Section at the Department of Justice Canada.  Thank you for appearing.  I am sure you will have gathered that we do have questions that we need to put to you.  Do you have an opening statement, Mr. Saint-Denis?

 Paul Saint-Denis, Senior Counsel, Criminal Law Policy Section, Department of Justice Canada:  No, I do not.  This is my second time before the committee on this bill.  I am here to answer questions, hopefully provide useful answers, but I have no presentation to make.

The Chair:  We needed you back because, of course, more questions have arisen.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Of course.

(French follows, La présidente : Nous débuterons avec une question du sénateur Nolin.…)

(après anglais)(Mr. Saint-Denis : …of course.)

La présidente : Nous débuterons avec une question du sénateur Nolin.

Le sénateur Nolin : À l’article 3 du projet de loi, on parle de circonstances aggravantes.

Le sénateur Joyal : Pouvez-vous spécifier la ligne et la page?

Le sénateur Nolin : C'est un texte que j'ai repris.

La présidente : C'est la page 3, ligne 19, je pense.

Le sénateur Nolin : Vous parlez de l'usage du bien immobilier d'autrui. Si l’usage se faisait avec le consentement du propriétaire de ce bien immobilier, est-ce que cela changerait la circonstance aggravante?

M. Saint-Denis : En se basant sur le libellé qui est devant nous, je dirais que la permission ne modifierait pas la direction de cette disposition.

Le sénateur Nolin : Pourquoi alors parler d'autrui?

M. Saint-Denis : De façon générale, nous visions des situations où le bien d'autrui serait peut-être utilisé sans la connaissance de l'individu en question. Si on parlait d’un usage avec la connaissance de l'individu, celui-ci serait alors coupable de l'acte autant que la personne qui l’utilise.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je vous l'accorde. Toutefois, pourquoi s’agirait-il d’une circonstance aggravante? La personne qui commet l'infraction est passible de poursuites comme le producteur. Cependant, en quoi le fait que le propriétaire du bien immobilier consente à ce que son immeuble ou terrain soit utilisé pour produire une substance illicite peut constituer une circonstance aggravante?

M. Saint-Denis : Ce n’était pas cette circonstance que l'on visait. Nous visions celle où le propriétaire ne donne pas son consentement.

Le sénateur Nolin : Dans une des questions posées plus tôt, j'ai cru comprendre que le projet de loi C-15, qui est la suite du projet de loi C-26 déposé lors d'une autre session parlementaire, a été longuement discuté par les procureurs généraux du Canada, soit les procureurs généraux des provinces et du fédéral. Quand ces discussions ont-elles commencé et quelle était l'ampleur de l’accord?

M. Saint-Denis : Vous parlez de discussions sur le projet de loi C-26 ou de discussions qui se seraient peut-être tenues avant le dépôt du projet de loi C-26?

Le sénateur Nolin : Nous parlons du projet de loi C-15. Le projet de loi C-26 faisait partie d'une autre session parlementaire. Il n’en sera donc pas question. 

Quelles discussions ont eu lieu, sur les plans politique et administratif, entre vous et vos collègues des provinces, sur l'instauration, par le biais d’une loi fédérale, de peines minimales obligatoires?

M. Saint-Denis : Il en fut peut-être question dans l'année précédant le dépôt du projet de loi, dû peut-être au fait qu’un autre projet de loi fut déposé auparavant.

Le sénateur Nolin : Les discussions ont commencé avec vos collègues provinciaux après que l'ancêtre du projet de loi C-15 fut introduit?

M. Saint-Denis : Si j’ai bien compris, vous ne teniez pas à savoir ce qui s’était passé avant.

Le sénateur Nolin : J’aimerais savoir quand les discussions entre les procureurs généraux ont commencé.

La présidente : Si on parle de différents chiffres, le public qui nous regarde ne comprendra pas. On parle toutefois du processus qui a mené au dépôt du projet de loi C-15.

M. Saint-Denis : Pour les procureurs généraux des provinces, peut-être dans l'année antérieure au projet de loi C-26, peut-être un petit peu plus et pas tous les procureurs, certains procureurs, notamment les procureurs de l'Ouest, ont témoigné un intérêt dans ce genre de choses. Et puis, avec le projet de loi C-26, les discussions se sont entamées et cela s'est formalisé davantage au niveau politique et des fonctionnaires. Je dis un an, c'est peut-être un petit peu plus.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je voudrais, monsieur Paul Saint-Denis, explorer avec vous toute la question du cannabis, de la production du cannabis à des fins thérapeutiques. On vient d'entendre des témoins qui, de toute évidence, ont une certaine expérience dans le domaine des clubs compassion et de l'usage du cannabis à des fins thérapeutiques. 

Le ministre, lorsqu'il est venu témoigner, de façon péremptoire, a affirmé que ce projet de loi ne visait pas ce type d'activités et visait beaucoup plus les activités du crime organisé. 

On vient d'entendre et tout au long de notre examen, on a entendu plusieurs témoins qui ont soulevé des préoccupations importantes quant à l'effet de la mise en œuvre du projet de loi C-15. Croyez-vous que des amendements s'imposent?

M. Saint-Denis : Au projet de loi?

Le sénateur Nolin : Oui.

M. Saint-Denis : Je dois avouer que je n'ai pas eu la chance d'écouter les témoins qui viennent juste de comparaître. Mais le ministre l'a dit clairement, qu'on ne visait pas, ce n'était pas l'objectif, ce n'était pas de viser les clubs de compassion ou l'usage thérapeutique de la marijuana. 

Et puis, de fait, ce projet de loi ne vise pas l'usager, la personne qui est en possession pour quelques fins. 

Le sénateur Joyal : Quelques fins médicales que ce soit?

M. Saint-Denis : Quelques fins que ce soit, sauf dans les cas de possession pour les fins de trafic. Mais la possession simple, que ce soit pour l'usage personnel ou l'usage thérapeutique, cela ne vise pas du tout ces activités.

Le sénateur Rivest : La réalité juridique est qu'ils sont touchés, visa le noir tua le blanc.

M. Saint-Denis : Non, si on examine les dispositions ici, on ne parle pas d'infraction de possession mais de possession pour les fins de trafic, d'exportation et d'importation, pas du tout de simple possession.

La présidente : Excusez-moi, je ne suis pas très bien là. Si quelqu'un cultive de la marijuana, s'il gagne sa vie, comme on vient d'entendre, il y a des gens qui le font et on nous dit qu’ils ne gagnent pas beaucoup d'argent mais qui gagnent leur vie en produisant, en cultivant de la marijuana pour les clubs de compassion; cela c'est trafiquer, non? 

M. Saint-Denis : Madame la présidente, ce n'est pas la possession. Ce dont on parlait il y a deux secondes mais la culture.

La présidente : La production.

M. Saint-Denis : On fait la production et les dispositions de ce projet de loi visent certainement les activités de production. Mais en ce qui concerne les activités de production de 200 plants ou moins, il faut que ce soit pour des fins de trafic. 

Alors, si vous me posez la question sur les clubs de compassion, je ne sais pas si ces clubs font la production comme telle ou ne font que vendre. S'ils ne font que vendre, ils ne seraient normalement pas visés par ce projet de loi. S'ils font la production pour des fins de trafic, ils seraient visés par le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Joyal : Le serpent commence quelque part! Le club de compassion va le prendre où?

Le sénateur Nolin : Je pense qu'on devrait expliquer à M. Paul Saint-Denis ce qu'on a entendu tout à l'heure; le fournisseur unique du club compassion de Victoria à l'époque avait 800 membres; ce fournisseur a été poursuivi au criminel et a été en passant absous complètement au procès, c’est en appel et cela chemine jusqu’à la Cour suprême. C’est la cause de M. Baron en Colombie-Britannique. Il avait au moment de la saisie 1 000 plants. Et il était un employé du club compassion de Victoria. Vous avez là je pense un résumé; c'est un producteur, c'est un employé. Le club compassion le sait. Tout est illégal; c'est de la production illégale, c'est à la limite du trafic parce qu’il y aura transfert d'une substance interdite entre le club compassion et ses membres. Tout ce qu'on n'a pas dans cela, c'est l'importation. Si on avait creusé un peu, on aurait peut-être trouvé qu'un des membres de Victoria est résidant de Seattle. On n'a pas des témoignages à cet effet mais les faits que je viens de raconter, c'est la situation qui va être : M. Baron a été blanchi par la Cour suprême de Colombie-Britannique, en première instance.

Et avec le projet de loi C-15, tout cela serait illégal et M. Baron serait en prison pour trois ans.

M. Saint-Denis : C'est juste.

Le sénateur Nolin : Est-ce qu'on ne doit pas amender le projet de loi, compte tenu que le ministre m'a dit textuellement : non M. Nolin, ce n’est pas ce qu’on veut, on veut s'en prendre au crime organisé.

M. Saint-Denis : Le problème à ce que je sache avec les clubs de compassion, c’est qu’il n'y a aucun contrôle sur leurs activités.

Le sénateur Joyal : Vous voulez tous les mettre en prison!

M. Saint-Denis : On ne sait pas précisément à qui ils vendent. Les clubs de compassion maintiennent qu'ils ne vendent qu'aux gens qui ont des ordonnances ou enfin qui s'identifient comme des gens ayant des besoins pour des fins thérapeutiques. C'est ce qu'ils disent. Est-ce que c'est ce qu'ils font? Je ne sais pas exactement si leur vente est exclusivement pour des fins thérapeutiques ou non. On ne le sait pas. Alors 1 000 plants, cela donne énormément de marijuana comme vous le savez, sénateur Nolin.

Le sénateur Nolin : Mais vous savez, 1 000 plants divisés en 50 types de cannabis différents parce que les 800 membres ne veulent pas tous avoir le même type de cannabis, cela s'explique.

M. Saint-Denis : Possiblement mais aucun des clubs de compassion ne sont contrôlés, on n’a pas d’inspecteur, on ne connaît rien au sujet des opérations ni les ventes. Alors, on peut comprendre que le gouvernement ait une certaine appréhension concernant ces activités.

Le sénateur Nolin : Les fois où les tribunaux ont été invités à explorer cette opération, je pense qu’avec les témoignages qu'on a entendus ce soir, on en arrive à la conclusion que les tribunaux ont utilisé leur discrétion pour absoudre ces gens parce qu'ils remplissaient selon eux un besoin. On peut ne pas être d'accord juridiquement, mais la population semble de toute évidence être en accord avec cela et les tribunaux l'ont fait. 

Est-ce qu'on doit amender le projet de loi pour tenter de réduire au moins la largeur du ratissage qu’il pourra malheureusement effectuer malgré l'intention du ministre?

M. Saint-Denis : Je ne crois pas que je puisse répondre oui ou non à cette question. La seule chose, c'est que je ne sais pas quel genre d'amendement vous pourriez apporter qui ferait en sorte qu'il n'y aurait pas d'abus si on ouvrait la porte à des exceptions de ce genre, sans une certaine surveillance quelconque, soit des agences fédérales ou provinciales. Si on fait des exceptions pour des clubs de compassion, je peux vous garantir que ce sera une porte ouverte qui sera utilisée par la création d'une multitude de clubs de compassion qui ne seront peut-être pas plus compassionnés que pour leur portefeuille.

Le sénateur Joyal : Une supplémentaire là-dessus.

La présidente : D'accord. Il y a d'autres questions, ensuite il y aura une dernière intervention du sénateur Nolin.

Le sénateur Joyal : Il faut quand même connaître la réalité. La marijuana que distribuent les clubs de compassion ne tombe pas du ciel comme la manne dans le désert. Ils la prennent quelque part. 

Pour éviter d’avoir des peines minimales obligatoires, ils devront s'approvisionner auprès d'une multitude de personnes qui pourront leur fournir moins de cinq plans afin d’éviter la peine minimale obligatoire. Si je lis :

À six mois, si une infraction est commise à des fins de trafic et que le nombre de plans en cause est inférieur à 201 et supérieur à cinq.

Si je vous prends au mot, c'est ce que cela veut dire.

M. Saint-Denis : C'est juste. Toutefois, il faut quand même reconnaître que les clubs de compassion ne sont pas des organisations légitimes face à la loi. Ce sont des organisations qui distribuent de la marijuana illégalement. On n'a pas créé une exception. Même dans le contexte de la distribution ou de l'accès à la marijuana pour des fins thérapeutiques, on n'a pas permis la création d'organisation qui pourrait se livrer à la distribution en grande quantité. On a un régime qui permet la possession individuelle ou de façon plus récente maintenant, la production pour deux personnes. Et puis, c'est tout. C'est ce qu'on a maintenant avec les règlements concernant l'accès à la marijuana pour des fins thérapeutiques. Des clubs de compassion ne sont pas légitimes.

Le sénateur Nolin : Pour les rendre un peu plus légitime, les tribunaux ont utilisé l'article 730 à leur discrétion pour absoudre ces gens-là tout en les reconnaissant coupables. Peut-être qu'un amendement verrait à redonner au tribunal ce type de discrétion.

M. Saint-Denis : Possiblement.

 (Sen. Wallace : There has been a lot of discussion…)  (anglais suit)

  (following French in 1800 – Mr. Saint-Denis: Possiblement.) 

Senator Wallace:  There has been a lot of discussion around this table from the various witnesses who have commented on the trafficking provisions that are included in Bill C-15.  In particular, those subsections are in clause 1, as you undoubtedly know, paragraph 5(3)(a).  That particular amendment to the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act provides, as I understand it, for an escalating scale of mandatory minimum penalties that would be dependent upon trafficking.  

I sense from some of the comments from witnesses that there is confusion about the concept of trafficking, and perhaps a lack of understanding about the aggravating factors that are mentioned – not just mentioned, but are an integral part of that section.  Perhaps everyone is clear on it, but I have heard enough comment that makes me wonder if we are.  

Can you explain to us the inter-relationship of these aggravating factors with the concept of trafficking that is set out in clause 1 of the bill?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I think you have to start with the definition of what trafficking is.  Trafficking covers a range of activities – including giving, selling, selling without consideration and so on.  The easiest way to explain it would be that the minimum penalty does not come into play in cases of trafficking unless one of these factors is present.  

Therefore, if I give a joint to my friend, I am trafficking but I do not get caught with these minimum penalties.  It is not meant to do that.  It is meant to deal with cases of, for instance, organized crime where weapons or violence is used.  Simple trafficking, even if there is a commercial consideration, would not get caught.  It has to have an aggravating factor – not any aggravating factor but one of these listed aggravating factors for the minimum penalty to kick in.

Senator Wallace:  Do you have the aggravating factors in front of you?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Yes, I do. 

Senator Wallace:  You do not have to read them line by line, but could you highlight what the nature of each of those aggravating factors is that would have to be proven in conjunction with trafficking, so we are clear on this?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  After trafficking, you would have to indicate that either the person committed the offence for an organized crime group, that the individual used or threatened to use a weapon or he used or threatened to use violence.  That would get you into the minimum one-year sentence.  There is a fourth I should not forget, where the individual has had a previous conviction.  That will get you the minimum one year.

There is another consideration, which would attract a minimum of two years.  That is if the trafficking occurs in or near a school or a public place that is usually frequented by persons under the age of 18, if the trafficking occurs in a prison or if the person uses the youth to commit the offence of trafficking.  That will get you the minimum two years.

Absent these factors, there is no minimum.  The simple selling, giving or transportation without any of these factors will not attract a minimum penalty.

Senator Wallace:  You mentioned one of the subsections of clause 1, 5(3)(a)(ii)(A), which talks about an aggravating factor that could result in a two-year mandatory minimum.  It refers to the commission of an offence.  I will paraphrase and move to the part I would like you to comment on –

in or near any other public place usually frequented by persons under the age of 18 years.

We have heard comment about what could appear to be the ambiguity of that; how would you know whether this is an area frequented by persons under the age of 18?   Is that a phraseology that appears elsewhere in the Criminal Code, or are you aware of any judicial interpretation of what that means?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  It appears under the sentencing guidelines for the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act now.  It is one of the factors that a court must take into account as a potential aggravating factor.  In fact, the language that you find here was inspired by that existing language now in the CDSA.  

In this context, I am not aware of a judicial interpretation about this, what these phrases mean, but the courts are capable of dealing with those kinds of issues.  We do not feel that is problematic.

Senator Wallace:  One other question, if I could? 

The Chair:  Would you let me put a supplementary to that question, Senator Wallace? 

Senator Wallace:  Certainly.

The Chair:  It is a sentencing factor – that language about "in or near any other public place."  I just want to be clear; you are not aware of any jurisprudence on this, so we do not know how this has been used in the courts, is that right?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I am not familiar with that having been used.  Having said that, it does not mean it has never been used.

The Chair:  We have had some testimony from lawyers, and in one case from a retired judge, to the effect that was rather broad language.  The example I kept citing for the purposes of trying to elicit testimony was a bus stop frequented not only by children but by everyone.  You cannot give us any guidance at all on how that would likely apply?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I can give you a general idea in a sense that I do not believe a bus stop would necessarily qualify, but perhaps certain parts of a mall might.  Obviously schools would, and schools are mentioned here anyway.  Playgrounds would be such an area, for instance.  

These are the kinds of things that the courts would deal with.  Yes, they are broadly stated; but without getting into a long list of potential areas, we thought it best to try to capture the general idea, the principle we wanted to establish here.

I agree with you and the witnesses who said that this is broad, but it is not beyond the ability of a court to define.

(1820 follows – the Chair:  Forgive me.  I know this is your time) 

(Following Mr. Saint-Denis -- beyond the ability of a court to define.)

The Chair:  Forgive me.  I know this is your time, Senator Wallace, and you will be compensated for it, but since this subject has been raised, I want to be very sure I understand.  The phrase occurs now, as I understand it, as a guideline for sentencing.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is correct. 

The Chair:  But here, it kicks in.  It is no longer a guideline.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is correct.

The Chair:  It is a pretty stiff rule imposing a mandatory minimum, which is why it no longer allows for the same degree of judicial discretion that can be applied when we are just talking about guidelines.  I ask again.  Beyond just assuming that the courts can handle anything we throw at them, we do not have anything more specific to hang our understanding of these words on.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I am afraid there is nothing more specific.  We rejected the idea, but an alternative would have been to list potential sites where those things might occur.  That might have been a very long list, indeed.

The Chair:  There has already been some jurisprudence saying that "community centres" was too vague.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  "Community centres" might be, depending on the community centre.  These will be very case specific.

The Chair:  Litigation awaits.

Thank you, Senator Wallace, for your patience.

Senator Wallace:  To follow up on your point, Madam Chair, coming back to the purpose for that subsection, it is obviously to provide as much protection as possible to young people, those under the age of 18, so that they do not become subject to drug trafficking.  That is the whole purpose of it.  I suppose we can debate the breadth of the language, but I know from my own experience that courts do provide judicial interpretation of language continuously on all acts.  That would not be out of the ordinary.  Do you agree with that? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I completely agree.  As you correctly point out, the idea was to ensure a level of protection from exposing youngsters to drugs and drug traffic, drug activities.

Senator Wallace:  There has been a lot of evidence and opinion expressed about mandatory minimums and their effectiveness.  Are you familiar, Mr. Saint-Denis, with the history of mandatory minimums as they form part of the Criminal Code or related statutes in this country?  Can you tell us anything about the history?  How many times would mandatory minimums appear?  Have they appeared, and over what period of time?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I am afraid I cannot give you a detailed blow-by-blow description of the history of mandatory minimums either in the code or anywhere else.  However, they have formed a part of the Criminal Code provisions.  There are not many of them.  In fact, at one time, there was a minimum penalty for a drug offence.  The importation offence had a minimum penalty since I think 1960 or so in the old Narcotics Control Act.  That was struck down.  The minimum was seven years and it did not take into account the possibility that a court would be obliged to impose a seven year minimum for a small amount of drugs being imported, so the Supreme Court struck that down. 

The Supreme Court has had an opportunity to look at minimum penalties in the code and, providing there is a rational connection between the offence and the penalty, the courts have supported or sustained these penalties.  After the terrible incident in Montreal where a number of women were killed with the use of a firearm, we introduced a number of firearm-related offences with minimum four-year penalties, and most of them have been challenged and have been sustained.

Senator Wallace:  It is my understanding that mandatory minimums are not a recent occurrence.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  No, they are not.

Senator Wallace:  My understanding is that there are 44 of them in the Criminal Code, going back to 1976, and of those 44, 34 of them were 2005 and prior.  Would you know that?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I do not know that for a fact, but I know they have been part of our code for as long as I have been involved with the code, and that goes back to 1981.  They are simply not that unusual.  

If we move away from the Canadian context, internationally, minimum penalties in the drugs area are not unusual at all.  Any number of countries have them, including European countries and certainly African and Asian countries.  Some of them are extremely severe and others less so.  Minimum penalties form part of the sentencing background for most countries, especially in the area of drugs.

Senator Wallace:  Thank you very much.

The Chair:  Supplementary:  I have seen some commentary to the effect that in most, I will say democratic countries, because that was what the commentary I am thinking of was talking about, that include mandatory minimums in their Criminal Code, they also allow, on a fairly standard basis, for the exercise of judicial discretion to wave those mandatory minimums when the judge deems the circumstances warrant it.  Is that a fair understanding of what most other countries do, in your understanding?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I could not tell you, honestly.  The very brief research I did on that did not speak to it.  It does not mean that is the case or is not the case.  I just do not know.

The Chair:  I knew I was pushing there, but it is always worth trying to elicit information.

Senator Wallace:  Supplementary to that, my understanding is that there is the ability for an exemption from the application of a mandatory minimum in the bill as it relates to accused who take treatment through drug treatment courts or through provincial drug treatment services.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Where they exist.

Senator Wallace:  Yes.  Both drug treatment courts and provincial drug treatment services, which covers a wide base, I am sure you would agree.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  There is that, plus some discretion in terms of the presentation or introduction of evidence of the aggravating factors.  If those aggravating factors exist but for one reason or another the Crown chooses not to introduce them, then the minimum penalties will not come into play.

Senator Milne:  If I can follow on through from that answer, Mr. Saint-Denis, you are saying that this law puts the decision in the hands of the prosecutor and not of the judge.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  It depends what aspects you are talking about.

Senator Milne:  I am referring to the answer you just gave to Senator Wallace.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I said there is some discretion.

Senator Milne:  With what they are charged with.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is the situation now.

Senator Milne:  Yes, but it is taking this discretion behind closed doors and out of public scrutiny.  That is what this law does.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is what the present law does as well.

Senator Milne:  Mr. Saint-Denis, when I heard your answer to Senator Nolin, I am afraid I got a little irritated.  Your first answer was "in this bill."  What other law are we speaking about right here and now?  It is this law we are talking about.  You also said the word "perhaps" about four or five times in the first sentence.  I hope you are not trying to avoid some of the questions, because it seems to me that that was where you were heading.

We heard testimony here from Mr. Thomas Kerr, who is with the Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS.  He talked about his concerns with the use of “criminal organization” in this setting.  His study, apparently a participation in illicit drug dealing among street-based injectors in Vancouver's downtown east side, found that drug dealers who were users themselves  typically worked in groups of four; a steerer, a seller, a holder and a collector.  These positions are held, he pointed out, by the most severely disadvantaged and addicted people.

In my understanding of the Criminal Code, a group of three is a criminal organization.  A group of four would certainly be a criminal organization.  Would the minimum sentence apply to these people?  Is this law actually designed to scoop up people off the street who are the most disadvantaged in our society?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Your question is:  Is this law designed to do that?  No, it is not. 

Senator Milne:  Will that be the effect of the law? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Will that happen?  It is possible that that will happen, yes.

Senator Milne:  I am getting more and more discouraged about this law all the time.

We just heard from the proponents of the medical use of marijuana that one of the reasons that doctors do not prescribe medical marijuana to people who actually need it is because, in order to do so, they have to fill out a 30-page form.  Is the government planning to do anything to revamp the regulations so that will not happen?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I could not say.  I do not know.

The Chair:  That would be under Health Canada? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Health Canada is responsible.

The Chair:  For the 30-page form and all of those regulations? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is correct.

Senator Nolin:  More than that; the health minister is the minister under the CDSA.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is correct as well.

Senator Milne:  We are talking in circles. 

(French follows -- Senator Joyal:  Je voudrais revenir...) 

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Joyal : Je voudrais revenir sur la question des clubs de compassion parce que votre réponse à été, comme on dit en anglais, « illusive ». C'est mon opinion; je peux me tromper. Cependant, je pense qu’il est important pour nous — qui allons être appelés à voter sur ce projet de loi — de savoir ce que nous faisons pour nous éviter de découvrir par après, lorsque la loi sera interprétée, qu’on a récupéré, à l'intérieur du Code criminel, les clubs de compassion parce qu'on nous a dit ce soir qu'aucun d'entre eux n'avait été condamné jusqu'ici à l'intérieur des dispositions du Code criminel.

Selon votre réponse, tous ces clubs pourraient être accusés, trouvés coupables et sujets à des sentences minimum parce qu'ils doivent s’approvisionner en cannabis quelque part. À moins qu'ils l’achètent de producteurs qui en cultivent moins de cinq plants, ils tomberaient automatiquement à l'intérieur des dispositions de ce projet de loi s'ils en achètent plus que cinq, avec des peines allant de six mois à neuf mois à un an ou à 18 mois, selon la quantité.

Dans votre esprit, quel objectif aviez-vous à l'égard des clubs de compassion lorsque vous avez rédigé ce projet de loi?

M. Saint-Denis : Comme je l'ai indiqué plus tôt, les clubs de compassion ne sont pas légitimes, ce sont des clubs qui se livrent à des activités illégales.

Le sénateur Joyal : Pourquoi les tribunaux ne les ont-ils pas condamnés antérieurement?

M. Saint-Denis : C'est à la discrétion des juges.

Le sénateur Joyal : Et pourquoi les juges ont utilisé cette discrétion? Est-ce parce que les juges ont conclu qu'ils remplissaient une vocation et qu’ils répondaient à un besoin social que le gouvernement n'avait pas lui-même satisfait?

M. Saint-Denis : C'est fort possible.

Le sénateur Joyal : Justement. Vous venez de confirmer ce que je crains. Le gouvernement n'a pas changé sa capacité d'approvisionner les personnes qui ont actuellement le droit de consommer de la marijuana pour des fins médicales. Il n'a pas amélioré ses capacités de donner à ces personnes de la marijuana en qualité et en quantité suffisante, et il y a eu une espèce de réponse du milieu. Les tribunaux ont reconnu que cette façon de répondre aux besoins n’était peut-être pas ce que le gouvernement envisageait, mais qu’elle répondait à un besoin social particulier. Par les effets de cette loi, on va tous les rendre illégaux, mais l'approvisionnement va rester le même, c'est-à-dire pauvre et insuffisant.

Si c'est ce qu’on fait avec ce projet de loi, on a un problème. Au ministère de la Justice, les problèmes sociaux vous concernent un peu moins, car ils relèvent du ministère de la Santé. Cependant, comme législateurs, lorsque nous étudions un projet de loi, il faut se préoccuper de la légalité du geste, mais également de l'impact social que le projet de loi aura sur un groupe de la population qui est défavorisé ou qui est aux prises avec un besoin particulier. 

Lorsque vous rédigez un projet de loi, vous ne pouvez pas ignorer l'impact qu’il aura sur un certain nombre de citoyens qui vont tous se retrouver en prison le lendemain avec des traitements tout à fait insuffisants. Vous avez lu les témoignages comme nous. Si vous pouviez nous dire : « Ne vous en faites pas, il y a des traitements disponibles en prison. Ne vous en faites pas, il y a tout ce qu'il faut pour les psychologues, les consultants, les médecins, et cetera. Ne vous en faites pas, le nombre de sidéens dans les prisons est en diminution. Ne vous en faites pas, les personnes qui sortent de prison sont en meilleure santé que lorsqu'elles y rentrent » — alors que 20 p. 100 de celles qui sortent de prison ont avec le sida. 

Vous ne pouvez pas me demander d'adopter un projet de loi en me fermant les yeux et en me disant : « Tout va aller très bien, Madame la Marquise, demain matin dans les prisons canadiennes. » 

M. Saint-Denis : Ce projet de loi n'a pas comme objectif d'essayer de régler tous problèmes qui existent... 

Le sénateur Joyal : Non, mais vous allez en créer plus avec ce projet de loi. C'est ça mon problème!

M. Saint-Denis : Vous avez posé des questions intéressantes, mais au ministère de la Justice, on ne pouvait certainement pas essayer de créer des exceptions aux dispositions qu'on a ici pour des activités que nous reconnaissons comme étant illégales. Vous devez admettre que le ministère de la Justice ne peut pas permettre aux gens de se livrer à des illégalités. On ne pouvait pas créer une exception pour une activité que nous reconnaissons comme étant illégale.

Vous avez entendu des témoins des clubs de compassion. J'ose croire que ce ne sont pas les seuls clubs de compassion qui existent au Canada. Il y en a plusieurs. Je ne sais pas s’ils ont le niveau de contrôle que les gens présents prétendent avoir chez eux, mais je sais qu'il y a des cas où le club de compassion vend de la marijuana à des fins thérapeutiques pour des maux qui sont quand même relativement mineurs. « Je me sens un peu stressé, est-ce que je peux avoir un joint s'il vous plaît? » « Ça va mal aujourd'hui, je suis déprimé. Est-ce que je peux avoir un joint s'il vous plaît? »

Lorsqu'on étudiait les règlements concernant l'accès à la marijuana à des fins thérapeutiques, ce n’était pas ce genre de maux que nous visions. Je dois quand même avouer une certaine confusion concernant ce genre d'enthousiasme pour une drogue pour laquelle on n’a presque aucun test. On sait que la marijuana aide dans certains cas très spécifiques, mais pour une raison historique quelconque, on n’a pas beaucoup d'information concernant la valeur thérapeutique de la marijuana. Il y a énormément de gens qui disent que c'est bon pour eux. Cela a une certaine valeur, mais ce ne sont pas des preuves scientifiques. Les médicaments testés en profondeur par la communauté scientifique médicale sont sous un contrôle beaucoup plus sévère que celui qu’on veut imposer sur une drogue pour laquelle il y a très peu de preuves scientifiques quant à sa valeur thérapeutique.

Alors, lorsqu'on vient me dire que les clubs de compassion font un travail intéressant et qu'ils sont utiles, d'accord, mais je reste quand même un peu hésitant à accepter sur parole 100 p. 100 de ce qu'ils disent.

Tenant compte du fait que c'est le ministère de la Justice et qu'on a affaire à des activités illégales, le ministre de la Justice ne peut tout simplement pas créer des exceptions pour permettre des activités qui sont reconnues comme étant illégales selon la loi. Je regrette.

Le sénateur Joyal : Et que les tribunaux n'ont jamais voulu sanctionner.

M. Saint-Denis : Les tribunaux étant ce qu'ils sont, il n'est pas tout à fait juste de dire qu’ils n'ont jamais voulu sanctionner. Il y a un cas, celui d'un individu, dont j'ai malheureusement oublié le nom, à Montréal, qui était à la tête d'un club de compassion et qui a été condamné. 

Il faut faire une distinction entre ce qui se passe dans les tribunaux en Colombie-Britannique, où on reconnaît qu'il y a parfois des décisions qui sortent un peu de l'ordinaire, d'une part, et ce qui se passe à ailleurs au Canada, d'autre part. 

Le sénateur Nolin : J’aurais une question sur le pouvoir discrétionnaire des juges dans d'autres juridictions. Le ministère de la Justice a publié en 2006 une étude qui a examiné les pays de common law, principalement les pays du Commonwealth, nos alliés les plus près, l'Australie, la Nouvelle-Zélande et ainsi de suite. Je n’ai même pas besoin d'aller dans le texte en profondeur, dans les faits saillants, c'est encore plus facile pour les journalistes qui ne veulent pas tout lire on y lit : 

Toutefois, la plupart des autres instances (par rapport au Canada) qui ont créé des peines d'emprisonnement obligatoires accordent à leurs tribunaux un certain pouvoir judiciaire discrétionnaire. En effet, la clause de pouvoir judiciaire discrétionnaire permet aux juges d'imposer une peine moins lourde dans les cas de circonstances exceptionnelles.

C'est chez vous, quand même. Je comprends que vous ne l'ayez pas lu, mais il y a dû y avoir quelqu'un qui vous en a parlé en bout de ligne, justement pour couvrir la situation des clubs de compassion auxquels mon collègue Joyal fait référence. Il faut croire qu'à part le cas de M. Saint-Onge à Montréal, les juges ont tous absout les clubs de compassion parce qu'ils avaient un pouvoir discrétionnaire.

M. Saint-Denis : Vous avez raison, j'oubliais ce rapport. 

Le sénateur Nolin : Je dis M. Saint-Onge mais c'est peut-être M. Saint-Maurice. Je ne veux pas que le nom de M. Saint-Onge soit retenu, mais il y a une personne de ce nom dans l'opération. C'est quand même majeur. Il faut laisser à quelqu'un en bout de ligne la possibilité de ne pas avoir envoyé en prison obligatoirement quelqu'un qui a été trouvé coupable, si on découvre que la loi n'avait pas prévu l'excuse qui se produit.

M. Saint-Denis : Vous avez tout à fait raison. Ce rapport fait état d'une juridiction où on a permis une certaine discrétion aux juges. Lorsque Mme la présidente me posait la question, je ne pensais pas à ce rapport mais à d'autres cas. C'est juste.  Il y a des juridictions, des pays, où on a permis une discrétion aux tribunaux même dans le contexte d'un régime qui prévoyait des peines minimales.  

(Mrs. Chair : I would like a supplementary on this. Mr. Saint-Denis, I take your repeated reservations...)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French -- Mr. Saint-Denis -- minimal.) 

The Chair:  I would like a supplementary on this.

Mr. Saint-Denis, I take your repeated reservations about compassion clubs and writing into a law protections for organizations that are not licensed, not regulated and not even legal under the law as it stands.  

However, would it be contrary to the architecture and purpose of this bill to include some measure of judicial discretion where the judge was satisfied that the production or provision of marijuana was for therapeutic use and that the imposition of the mandatory minimum would be excessively harsh in those circumstances?  I am not talking now about compassion clubs, which are organizations.  I am talking basically about the goal of the activity in question.  Would such an exception really be contrary to what we have been assured is the purpose of this bill?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  When I think of compassion clubs, I always think about the distribution of marijuana.

The Chair:  I am not asking about compassion clubs.  I am asking about a judge for whom the phrase "compassion club" never comes up, but someone is before him charged with producing or supplying marijuana for therapeutic use; and the person then demonstrates it is for genuine therapeutic use, not for disguised recreational purposes.

I thought I had heard from the minister and from everyone that that was not what this bill was trying to do, to levy mandatory minimums in those cases.  Do you understand what I am trying to ask you?  If not, I will try again.  

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Yes, I understand perfectly.  You covered two situations.  One situation is some form of distribution and the other is supplying.

The Chair:  Production or supplying.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  As far as the distribution side of it, this law would not catch that.  With regard to trafficking, unless these compassion clubs are doing it for organized crime or doing it so clearly, the aggravating factors set out here would not apply to those situations.

That leaves us with the question of production.  Your question is whether or not this would go against the architecture of the bill.  I would say technically, yes, because the bill does not provide for that sort of situation.  If this committee believes that such an exemption or such a clause would be beneficial, then the committee will have to make that decision on its own, but it would not be in line with what is contained in this bill.

The Chair:  Even though it might be in line with the assurances we have been given by those responsible for it?  I do not know.  I have to think about this.  These are questions we need to think about.  I was interested in your response.

You had another question, Senator Nolin?

(French follows -- Senator Nolin -- M. Saint-Denis, je veux revenir ...) 

(après anglais) 

Le sénateur Nolin : M. Saint-Denis, je veux revenir sur votre qualification des sentences et des décisions des tribunaux de la Colombie-Britannique. On a entendu cela de la part d'un seul témoin qui a produit une étude à l'Université Simon Fraser sur ce qu'il prétend être une tendance manifeste de la part des tribunaux de la Colombie-Britannique à donner des peines inférieures à ce qu'elles devraient être. 

À partir de ce témoignage, on a systématiquement posé la question à tous ceux qui sont venus devant nous, qui, de près ou de loin, pouvaient apprécier le travail des tribunaux. Tout le monde sans exception a contredit cette étude avec d'autres études à l'appui.  Des professeurs, des juristes, une juge à la retraite, tout le monde a contredit cette étude.

Vous me ramenez à ce constat qu'au ministère de la Justice, on fait une distinction entre le travail de la magistrature de la Colombie-Britannique et celle du reste du Canada. J'aimerais au moins comprendre sur quoi vous assoyez votre opinion.

M. Saint-Denis : C'est surtout sur des perceptions telles qu'on nous les a transmises par nos plaideurs en Colombie-Britannique.  C’est peut-être parce qu'ils sont voisins de l'Alberta ou que la même infraction est peut-être assujettie à une punition plus sérieuse, mais certainement que la perception de nos procureurs en Colombie-Britannique est qu'on a souvent vu des décisions qui menaient à des sentences qui étaient plutôt légèeres d'après eux.

Le sénateur Nolin : Votre collègue du ministère fédéral de la Justice qui a travaillé à la cause Baron a
 dû être surpris de la décision de la juge Cunningsburgh, même s’il s’y attendait un peu, quand celle-ci a reconnu M. Barren coupable et a donné une sentence qui l'a absout inconditionnellement.

Je crois que nous devons mettre de côté l'usage thérapeutique du cannabis pour plutôt se concentrer sur les infractions telles le trafic d’importation. 

Le témoin précédent nous a cité quelques causes où les sentences minimales imposées ne vont vraiment pas dans le sens de celles imposées par les tribunaux de la Colombie-Britannique. Dans un cas, une personne s’est vue condamnée à huit ans de prison pour avoir importé six grammes de cocaïne. Cette personne a dû trouver son voyage plutôt couteux.

M. Saint-Denis : Sans doute, mais il y avait peut-être d'autres facteurs aggravants.

Le sénateur Joyal : J'aimerais revenir à la question des circonstances aggravantes.

(Sen. Joyal: Senator Wallace has raised…)  (anglais suit)

 (Following French -- Senator Joyal continuing) 

Senator Wallace has raised that point.  There is a point for which I would like to get from you an clarification. 

(French follows – Senator Joyal continuing:  J’aimerais un éclaircissement…)

(après anglais)(Sén. Joyal)

J’aimerais un éclaircissement sur la circonstance aggravante à laquelle on se réfère au paragraphe (D), en haut de la page 2.

(Sen. Joyal : It is page 2, (D) on the top of the…)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French -- Senator Joyal continuing) 

It is page 2, (D) on the top of the page
: 

the person was convicted of a designated substance offence, or had served a term of imprisonment for a designated substance offence, within the previous 10 years. . . 

(French follows -- Senator Joyal continuing: Comment dois-je interpréter…) 

(après anglais)(Sén. Joyal)

Comment dois-je interpréter cette disposition?

M. Saint-Denis : On parle de deux périodes, soit celle où l'individu est condamné et le moment où sa sentence d'emprisonnement prend fin. On cherchait à s'assurer qu’un individu incarcéré, ne pouvant donc pas être condamné pour une infraction liée aux drogues dans les cinq dernières années étant donné qu'il était en prison, ne pourrait bénéficier du fait qu'il n’a pas été condamné dans les 10 dernières années.

Le sénateur Joyal : Pourriez-vous répéter votre réponse?
M. Saint-Denis : Prenons l’exemple d’une personne condamnée qui, au cours des 10 dernières années, a passé cinq ans en prison. Le fait de ne pas avoir commis d'infraction, n’en étant pas capable car il était en prison, ne devrait pas compter en sa faveur. Par conséquent, cette période de 10 ans compterait seulement à partir du moment où l’individu a quitté le milieu carcéral et non à partir du moment où il a été condamné.

(Sen. Joyal: That is not the way I interpreted it…)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French) 

Senator Joyal:  That is not the way I interpreted it.  That is not the way I was reading the bill.  I will explain how I interpreted it at reading.  I am not a lawyer; I am just reading this and I want to understand what it is.

The person was convicted of a designated offence, so to me it means that among the designated offences, the person has been found guilty of trafficking; he gave an ecstasy pill to another person in a rave and has been found guilty.  This says to me that the person has been convicted of a designated substance offence or -- so that is another set of circumstances -- had served a term of imprisonment for a designated offence, within the previous 10 years.

The way I interpret it is that the other circumstance is that the person has been in prison as a sentence.  It means that he might have served one day, two months, five years or nine years.  For me, this is the second set of circumstances and those two conditions would be within the previous 10 years, the way it is written in English, because the "within the previous 10 years" could apply as much to the person who was convicted as to the service of the term of imprisonment.  The way it is drafted, it is not as clear as you might want to explain it to us tonight.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  We thought it was clear, but perhaps by working on it sometimes you get a sense of where you want to go and maybe it does not come out that way.  However, on reading that, my interpretation would be that the 10 years would run from either the time the person is convicted or the time he essentially has finished serving his term of imprisonment.  You can get a conviction and get no term of imprisonment, as you know.  

Senator Joyal:  Yes, of course.  You can be discharged.  

Mr. Saint-Denis:  You can get discharged, you can get parole or any number of things.

You can get convicted and serve a term of imprisonment.  In our thinking, it made to sense to have a provision that dealt with previous convictions for the previous 10 years if 9 of those previous 10 years were spent in prison, where an individual would not get a chance to commit a drug offence.

Senator Joyal:  That is not what we heard.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That is theoretically.  

The Chair:  Supplementary? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  The whole purpose of this is to try to give a benefit to the individual who has remained conviction-free for 10 years.

If he has had a previous conviction 11 years ago, then there is no aggravating factor, or if he served a term of imprisonment that ended 11 or 12 years ago and he commits another designated offence, then the aggravating factor would not apply.

However, if he stepped out of prison after nine years of imprisonment and commited a second aggravating factor, a second designated offence, then this factor would come into play. 

The Chair:  I withdraw my supplementary.

(French follows -- Senator Nolin: L'article 10 de la loi…) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Nolin : L'article 10 de la loi, sous l’alinéas « Détermination de la peine », on prévoit une série de circonstances aggravantes. Au paragraphe 10(2)b), on retrouve ce qui suit : « a déjà été reconnue coupable d'une infraction désignée ». Je
 présume que c'est là que vous avez puisé les circonstances – qu’on ne peut plus appeler aggravantes, car elles font partie de l'actus reus de l'infraction.

M. Saint-Denis : Oui.

Le sénateur Nolin : Madame la présidente, sans être avocate, a souligné un problème majeur. On voit une énorme différence entre le juge qui apprécie les circonstances aggravantes, comme il est fait mention au présent article 10, et le juge qui est confronté à un élément constitutif qui le force à rendre une décision. Vous durcissez alors la situation constitutive en y ajoutant cet élément de purger une sentence, donc du temps d'incarcération, à l'intérieur de cette période de 10 ans.

M. Saint-Denis : En effet.

Le sénateur Nolin : À la limite, on parle d'une double-sentence pour une même infraction.

M. Saint-Denis : Je dirais non.

Le sénateur Nolin : Du moins, certains tenteront de le voir ainsi.

M. Saint-Denis : Je ne crois pas.

Le sénateur Nolin : Non?

M. Saint-Denis : La période de 10 ans commence soit à partir du moment où l'individu est trouvé coupable ou à partir du moment où il a complété sa sentence carcérale.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je comprends, mais pourquoi ne vous êtes-vous pas limité à ce dont on parle à l’article 10?

M. Saint-Denis : C'est parce qu'on a cru qu'il était important de couvrir la situation de l'individu qui avait été en prison et qui n’avait pas commis d'infraction ou n’avait pas été condamné pour une infraction parce qu'il était justement à l’intérieur du dix ans.

Le sénateur Nolin : À l'extérieur du dix ans. Dans le paragraphe 10, il n'y a pas de limite de dix ans.

M. Saint-Denis : Non, il n’y en a pas. C'est juste.

Le sénateur Nolin : Cela peut être n'importe quand dans la vie antérieure de la personne trouvée coupable ou de l'accusé. 

Je crois que Madame la présidente a mis le doigt sur un problème important. Les avocats vont sûrement exploiter cette distinction. Cela m'apparaît majeur. 

Encore une fois, on réduit la discrétion judiciaire et cela fait partie des normes et de la qualité de notre système de justice. 

Le ministre lui-même, dans l'examen du projet de loi précédent le projet de loi C-25, a presque louangée le travail de nos tribunaux. Alors, je ne vois pas pourquoi on n’aurait pas confiance dans ce cas-ci et qu’on imposerait des peines et qu’on énumérerait une série de situations qui forceraient les juges à rendre une peine minimale obligatoire. 

Madame la présidente a mis le doigt sur une situation et fait la distinction entre la détermination de la peine qui est du ressort du juge et des éléments constitutifs.

La présidente : C'est un beau discours plein de compliments à mon endroit, mais ce n'est pas une question.

Le sénateur Nolin : Ma question, est toujours la même. Ne voyez-vous pas là l'ouverture à un amendement qui permettrait à un juge de retrouver, de conserver toute la discrétion judiciaire avec tout ce que cela implique de circonstances aggravantes — on n'a pas encore parlé des communautés autochtones qui représentent une surpopulation en surnombre de la clientèle carcérale — en tenant compte de tout ce qui entoure l'exercice de la discrétion judiciaire ? 

Pourquoi
 ne pas redonner — et ce serait approprié qu'un juge puisse examiner, à la lumière de tout cela, mais en conservant, en bout de ligne, pour être sûr que la personne qui rentre à l'intérieur d'une excuse non prévue mais qu'on — c'est toujours possible — de ne pas être sujet à cette peine-là.

M. Saint-Denis : La politique telle qu'on la retrouve dans ce projet de loi-ci n'a pas pour objectif de donner plus de discrétion aux judiciaires, mais d'en donner moins.

Le sénateur Nolin : Le projet de loi enlève la discrétion judiciaire. Donc en l'enlevant, elle fait partie du projet de loi.

Le sénateur Joyal : Vous avez transformé un élément de sentence et vous en avez fait un élément d'aggravation de l'infraction en transformant en 10. (2) b) en 10. (2) d).

Le sénateur Nolin : C'est la même chose pour tous les autres éléments.

Le sénateur Joyal : Exactement. En enlevant 10. (2) b) qui était un des éléments que le juge devait évaluer lorsqu'il devait rendre sa sentence, lorsque le juge devait évaluer cet élément-là — je vais prendre un exemple outrancier parce que c'est toujours l’exemple absurde qui nous permet de pousser la logique à bout — la personne a été reconnue coupable d'avoir donné une pilule d'Ecstasy dans un rave. C'est la chose minimum qu'on puisse trouver dans la Loi sur le contrôle des drogues. Quand le juge avait à évaluer la sentence il se disait : «  c'est mineur, on va donner une chance et cetera. » Maintenant, vous l'avez transformé en circonstance aggravante du crime. Alors, le juge n'a plus à évaluer si une seule pilule c’est important versus dix kilos d'héroïne; le seul fait que la personne ait été reconnue coupable dans moins de dix ans avec une pilule d'Ecstasy, cette personne maintenant aura une peine d’un an minimum, tout de suite. Le juge n'a aucune discrétion; c'est un an minimum d'emprisonnement. 

Vous avez changé quelque chose de fondamental dans la Loi sur les drogues comme auparavant interprété.

M. Saint-Denis : Vous avez tout à fait raison, sénateur Joyal. C'est le but de l’amendement.

Le sénateur Joyal : C'est outrancier parce qu'on devrait au moins circonscrire l'importance de l'offense, de la condamnation. Vous donnez à la circonstance aggravante d'une pilule la même importance que dix kilos d'héroïne. Le système doit être rationnel. Si on fait cela, il faut que le juge puisse à un moment donné évaluer les circonstances à l'intérieur desquelles la condamnation a été obtenue.

M. Saint-Denis : Mais il faut quand même se rappeler quelques petites choses mais avec votre exemple d'une pilule d'Ecstasy et le dix kilos d'héroïne, on a limité la discrétion des juges en ce qui concerne le minimum qu'ils peuvent imposer, mais pas en ce qui concerne le maximum. 

Dans le cas de l'individu avec une pilule, la loi obligerait — ce n’était pas tout à fait clair dans votre exemple de la pilule; si le facteur aggravant était un de ceux-ci. Mais on va dire que oui. On va supposer.

Le sénateur Joyal : C'est cela.

M. Saint-Denis : Que c'est dans le cas d'un trafic qui a lieu là.

Le sénateur Nolin : La personne avait une fausse carte d’identité. Elle n’avait pas  18 ans, mais 16 ans. Cela peut arriver. Je pense que cela arrive des fois.

M. Saint-Denis : Cela rentre dans les cadres d'un des facteurs aggravants et le juge doit imposer une peine minimale obligatoire. Mais dans le cas du dix kilos, le juge ne va pas imposer une peine minimale. La peine maximale pour le trafic c’est l’emprisonnement à vie. Il ne va pas se limiter à un an. Il va viser drôlement plus haut. Les juges ont quand même la discrétion d'apprécier les facteurs aggravants qui sont au delà de ce qu'on prévoit dans la loi ici. On n'a pas éliminé la discrétion des juges. On l'a encadrée.

Le sénateur Nolin : C'est pour cette raison que cela fait partie du projet de loi.

La présidente : Vous avez mis un plancher.
(Chair : I think we…)

(anglais suit)

(following French – Mr. Saint-Denis: on la cadre.) 

The Chair:  I think we have made a fair tour of this particular topic.

Senator Joyal:  Another question:  Page 6, paragraph 5(5) on top of page 6:  If the offender successfully completes a program –

(French follows – Senator Joyal continuing – Pourquoi avez vous) 

(après anglais)

Pourquoi avez-vous mis « successfully » ou « avec succès » ? Sur quoi s'appuyera-t-on pour dire que le programme a été suivi avec succès? 

(Sen. Joyal : Why not have said « If the…)

(anglais suit)

 (following French – Senator Joyal continuing – suivre un success?) 

Senator Joyal:  Why not have said “if the offender completes a program”?

(French follows – Senator Joyal continuing -- Pourquoi avoir mis) 

(après anglais)(Sén. Joyal)

Pourquoi avoir mis cette qualification « successfully »?

M. Saint-Denis : Cela me paraît normal qu'on veuille que quelqu'un puisse terminer un programme de traitement avec succès. Ce sera aux tribunaux de juger si cela a été fait avec succès ou non. Normalement, lorsqu'un tribunal thérapeutique fait affaire avec un contrevenant, il va imposer certaines conditions, notamment s'abstenir de l'usage des drogues, peut-être un traitement psychologique ou tenter de se trouver un emploi ou des trucs semblables. Le tribunal va examiner la situation et déterminera à la fin si oui ou non l'individu a rencontré les conditions imposées par le tribunal. C'est cela le succès.

Le sénateur Joyal : Pourquoi ne l’avait-on pas à l’article 720(2) du Code criminel ?

M. Saint-Denis : Parce que dans l’article 720(2), on ne parle pas des tribunaux de toxicomanie.

Le sénateur Joyal : Oui, on parle d'un traitement « Treatment program approuve by the province ». C’est exactement ce qu’on a dans les cours.

La présidente : M. Saint-Denis a le droit de répondre aux questions qu’on lui pose.

M. St-Denis : C’est parce que les tribunaux de toxicomanie sont un phénomène très spécifique par opposition aux autres types de tribunaux approuvés par la province et qui peuvent recevoir des contrevenants qui comparaissent devant les tribunaux.

Les tribunaux pour ce qu'on appelle les programmes judiciaires de traitement de toxicomanie; c’est un phénomène qu’on a créé, il y en a six au pays, ils ont un certain style d'opération et, si j'ai bien compris, ils opèrent un peu différemment des autres programmes de traitement qui seraient disponibles pour les tribunaux.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je comprends, sauf que le « avec succès » s'applique autant aux tribunaux de drogue
 qu'aux programmes de traitement provinciaux ; et dans ces derniers, on n'avait pas cette qualification de « avec succès ».

M. Saint-Denis : C'est vrai, mais le tribunal – vous parlez de discrétion – aura la discrétion de déterminer si, oui ou non, l'individu aurait complété avec succès son traitement. Dans les deux cas, le tribunal va superviser le traitement. Et dans les deux cas, le tribunal va sans aucun doute vouloir imposer certaines conditions. Pour les gens qui ont une dépendance toxicomane, ils vont au moins exiger que l'individu ne se livre pas à l'usage des drogues. Il va y avoir des tests d'urine, normalement, pris au hasard, pour s'assurer que l'individu suit ces conditions. S'il y a des rechutes, le tribunal va pouvoir estimer si, compte tenu des autres facteurs, des autres conditions, c'est assez pour déterminer que l'individu n'a pas terminé avec succès, ou que c’est avec succès même s'il y a eu une ou deux rechutes.

(Chair : Mr. Saint-Denis, we heard testimony making it very plain…)
(anglais suit)

 (Following French -- Mr. Saint-Denis – une ou deux rechutes.) 

The Chair:  Mr. Saint-Denis, we heard testimony making it very plain that in drug treatment programs -- and my recollection is also under the drug court programs -- people enrolled in those programs are kicked out of them if they fail along the way; if they fail their tests or if they have relapses into usage.  The fact that they come out the other end having completed the program means that they actually did complete the program.  They did not just show up and pretend to be doing it; they completed the program.  The program includes the kind of conditions you are talking about.

Therefore, I was mystified by the addition of this word "successfully."  How do you define that word in a law?  How do you define "successfully complete" as distinct from "complete"?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  It will be left to the discretion of the court.  "Successfully" might not necessarily mean that the individual has met 100 per cent of the conditions 100 per cent of the time.  My understanding is that there are individuals who do successfully complete the program in spite of possibly having had a relapse at the beginning or at some time during the program.

The Chair:  However, they are allowed to stay in the program, on the judgment of the program operators.  

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I do not believe that a single relapse will necessarily result in an individual being kicked out.  The court will say, "Yes, you have successfully completed the program," or "No, you have not successfully completed the program, for these reasons," and it will be up to the court to determine.

You want to set up some form of yardstick by which one can say, "I did not just go through the motions; I was able to meet the conditions imposed by the court," and the court will acknowledge that.  That will be the person who has successfully completed the program.

The Chair:  I see.  We have another supplementary.

(French follows -- Senator Nolin -- Si nous vous posons ces questions…) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Nolin : Si nous vous posons ces questions, ce n’est pas pour le plaisir de critiquer mais parce que nous avons entendu des experts en désintoxication, des médecins – et pas juste de Vancouver, à part cela, mais de Toronto et des gens de la région ici. Ils nous ont à peu près tous dit : « qu'est-ce que cela veut dire, "succès?" » C’est que, là, on est aux confins du droit et de la médecine. C'est un état de santé ; il n’y a pas un toxicomane passant à travers un processus pour qui tous les mécanismes sont adaptés à l'individu. Il n’y a pas de taille unique pour tout le monde.

M. Saint-Denis : Tout à fait.

Le sénateur Nolin : Les médecins ont dit que cela allait bien pour autant qu’ils étaient capables d'adapter pour chacun des patients l'objectif de la loi. « Laissez-nous juges » nous disent les médecins. Si la personne passe à travers le processus, ils vont faire leur rapport au juge, mais l’évaluation du succès ne sera peut-être pas la même d'un médecin à un autre. Parlant de guérir une maladie, pas un médecin ne va dire que la personne est guérie; peut-être que le décès va amener la guérison. La personne peut toujours être sujette à la rechute, nous avons entendu de nombreux témoins nous le dire.

M. Saint-Denis : C'est juste, mais la phrase ne veut pas dire que la personne soit guérie. 

Le sénateur Nolin : Cela veut dire quoi à ce moment-là « avec succès »?

M. Saint-Denis : Cela veut dire tout simplement que la personne a complété le programme en observant les conditions imposées par le tribunal. Le tribunal n'exigera jamais qu'un individu soit guéri d'une toxicomanie.

Le sénateur Nolin : On a des experts de la santé publique qui nous ont dit : le mot «succès», on ne l'aime pas. Ils sont entièrement d'accord avec l’idée d’avoir des traitements alternatifs, une procédure alternative.

Le sénateur Joyal : On est tous d'accord avec cela.

Le sénateur Nolin : Tout le monde est d’accord ave cela ; on était les premiers, il y a dix ans, à être d'accord avec cela. On trouve juste qu’il n’y en a pas assez, à six, mais c’est un autre sujet. Là, au moins, on élargit cela aux programmes provinciaux.

La présidente : J’avais aussi une question.
(Chair : My question also has to do with drug treatment programs…)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French -- The Chair continuing -- J’avais aussi une question.) 

My question also has to do with drug treatment programs.  We have heard testimony to the effect that drug treatment programs tend to be full.  There are more candidates for those programs, in at least a reasonable number of places in Canada, than there are spaces available.

What happens to someone who is willing to enroll in a drug treatment program and says to the judge, "I would be glad to do it, but there is not a space?"  Does that person just sit in remand for a year or two?  What happens?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  I would rather doubt that.  If there is absolutely no space, then he does not get access to the program.

The Chair:  In that case, he or she is stuck?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  That would be correct.  My understanding is, however, that not all of the drug treatment court programs are filled.  I think some of the newer programs have space available.

Senator Joyal:  I take exception.  That is contradicted by other witnesses.  We have heard witnesses who do not corroborate your answer.  I sincerely apologize.

The Chair:  We have at least had testimony that, as I said a moment ago, in a good many cases there are not spaces available.  We are not into the statistics here.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Please do not misunderstand me.  My understanding, for instance, is that in B.C. and Toronto, there are no spots available.  Those programs are running at 100 per cent capacity.  With regard to the newer courts, I was told -- this goes back three or four months -- that there was capacity to take in more.

The Chair:  The problem, of course, is that even with newer programs, if they are any good, they will fill up quickly, will they not?

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Yes, they will fill up quickly.  However, the individuals who make it into these programs, it is not an endless supply of drug addicts.  Drug addicts who have committed a drug offence using violence or using a weapon, or who are part of an organized crime group, will get screened out.  There is not an endless supply of potential customers for these treatment centres.

Senator Milne:  I have a supplementary question.

The Chair:  I was intending to give you the floor on a second round, Senator Milne, so why not pretend that has happened.

Senator Milne:  A supplementary to that is an organized crime group is three people.  Three drug addicts on the street is an organized crime group.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  They have to do more than just hanging around on a corner.  They have to be involved in committing an offence of some sort.

Senator Milne:  One is procuring it.  I read you the list of the four that normally take part in a drug transaction on the streets of the downtown east side in Vancouver.  That is an organized crime group and these are all addicts who are doing this to support their habit.

The Chair:  Was that a question?

Senator Milne:  I am just offended by the constant use of "organized crime group" as defined in the law, at which we were told this bill was aimed.  To me, it is quite clear that it will scoop up these poor people off the streets of our cities who need help.  They need medical care, they need all sorts of things such as mental care, but they are not really what people think of normally as an organized crime group.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Point taken.

Senator Milne:  These will be the low-picking fruit that are scooped up.

We heard from a witness tonight, who was representing the Canadian AIDS Society, who said that the average amount a medicinal marijuana user would use in a month is approximately two ounces.  Suppose this individual was scooped up with their two ounces en route between one of these compassion clubs and their home, what charge would they face if this bill is passed.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  None.  Do they have an authorization to possess under the medical access?

Senator Milne:  There are very few people in Canada who do have that proper authorization.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  If they do not and they get picked up, technically the way it would work is that the police will have discretion to either charge or not charge.  Are you saying it is the average consumption over a month?

Senator Milne:  This is what we were told.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  If it is over a month, then at any one time the amount of cannabis will be very low, very small.  The peace officer will have a decision to make; do I want to charge this individual who has a very tiny amount or not?  If he charges them, this legislation does not come into play.  He is charged with possession and that is it.

Senator Milne:  What about the second time he is picked up? 

Mr. Saint-Denis:  It is still the same thing.  This legislation does not deal with possession per se.  He can be picked up as many times as he wants; it does not make it into this legislation.

Senator Milne:  That is a bit of a comfort, I suppose. 

(French follows - Senator Nolin - Je suis bien d'accord avec vous…) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Nolin : Je suis bien d'accord avec vous, les gouvernements ont, chacun leur tour, émis des doutes quant aux vertus thérapeutiques du cannabis. À un point tel qu'ils ont, la plupart du temps, posé la question à leurs organisations médicales, aux gens compétents qui ont la capacité, l'intelligence et la sagesse de mettre de côté la partisannerie et la politique, pour vraiment savoir si les effets du cannabis sont vraiment bons? Qui a répondu à cela? 

J’ai été fort interpellé lorsque vous avez dit que, dans le fond, une espèce de mythologie règne autour du cannabis et que vous mettez en doute les clubs de compassion. Nos confrères américains ont abordé la question avec de grands doutes ; ils en sont quand même venus à la conclusion que, effectivement, le cannabis avait des vertus thérapeutiques. Les Européens se sont dit : C’est américain, ce n’est pas bon, on va faire nos propres recherches. Qu'est-ce que l'Institut de recherche médicale européenne a conclu après trois ans d'évaluation ? Effectivement, ce n'est pas bénin, ce n'est pas sans effet, mais oui, il y a des effets thérapeutiques au cannabis. 

Dans le fond, ce n'est pas une question; malheureusement, il y a des gens qui font perdurer ce que plusieurs Canadiens, dans leur for intérieur, dans l’intimité de leur chez-eux, concluent : oui, il y a des vertus au cannabis à des fins thérapeutiques. C’est probablement pour cela que 85 p. 100 de la population canadienne est d'accord avec l'usage thérapeutique du cannabis. C'est probablement pour cela que des gens, malgré la loi, organisent des clubs de compassion, font pousser du cannabis -- qu’il serait bien plus payant de vendre au marché noir régulier -- et donc, fournissent des clubs de compassion. Dites-moi, ils ne sont pas tous fous, ces gens ? Ils ne font pas tous cela parce qu’ils sont une bande de convaincus ou d’aveuglés ? Non. 

Je termine en disant que je pense qu'on doit prévoir un amendement d’évaluation, puisque cette loi a malheureusement des conséquences sûrement imprévisibles — on le verra avec le temps. C'est d’ailleurs pour cela que vous avez accepté un amendement d'évaluation de deux ans, qu’on trouve un peu court, mais on verra. 

Qu'en pensez-vous?

M. Saint-Denis : Vous avez tout à fait raison. Le cannabis a des caractéristiques thérapeutiques; c'est reconnu. Mais ce n'est pas un médicament miraculeux.

Le sénateur Nolin : Personne ne prétend cela.

Le sénateur Joyal : C'est un analgésique.

M. Saint-Denis : Dans les clubs de compassion, on ne sait pas précisément quels sont les maux qu'on voudrait amoindrir ou guérir ou attendrir, si vous voulez, avec le cannabis. C'est sûr que dans certains cas — et même aux Etats-Unis, d'ailleurs, je crois que c'est pour le glaucome —, on se sert de la marijuana pour atténuer cette condition. Et puis, il y en a sans doute d'autres qui ont été reconnus, comme vous dites. Mais il n'y a rien qui indique que dans ces clubs de compassion, on limite la distribution à ces cas. D'ailleurs, je suis pas mal certain que ce n’est pas le cas. 

On permet l'usage de la marijuana pour une panoplie, si vous voulez, de conditions ; certaines plus justifiées que d'autres, mais on n'a pas eu la même approche face à l'usage du cannabis pour des fins thérapeutiques qu'on a eu pour d'autres drogues qui sont autant contrôlées, par exemple l'héroïne, la morphine, la codéine dont on connaît précisément la posologie, le dosage, la force et la pureté du produit. Toutes ces autres substances ont été assujetties à un système rigoureux d’évaluations scientifiques et de production; on sait où on va, on sait d'où cela vient, on sait quelles sont les quantités. Nous n’avons pas ces données pour le cannabis.

Le sénateur Nolin : Vous savez la réponse à cela. Vous et moi, on la sait.

M. Saint-Denis : Je sais la réponse à cela.

Le sénateur Nolin : L'héroïne, le pavot et ses dérivés ont été synthétisés par les laboratoires scientifiques et on a été capable de reconstituer les molécules et les breveter. Quand on a été capable de breveter une molécule du THC, des médicaments ont été créés. Maintenant, une série de témoins nous ont dit que dans le cas du cannabis, le produit doit être naturel et personne ne peut breveter cela. Nous nous retrouvons dans un cercle vicieux.

M. Saint-Denis : Oui, mais on est quand même pris avec le phénomène d'une drogue qu'on veut utiliser pour des fins thérapeutiques sans en connaître précisément les quantités, les origines, la production, ce qui s'est passé entre le moment où ce produit est cultivé jusqu’au moment où c’est fabriqué, où c’est roulé en forme de cigarette.

Il y a énormément d'inconnues dans ce système et cela pourrait causer des problèmes à un moment donné.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je terminerai là-dessus : l’Institute of Medicine, aux États-Unis, l’INSERM, en Europe, notre comité, on a tout fait ça. Nous sommes partis des mêmes prémisses et nous en sommes arrivés à cette conclusion. 

Oui, il peut y avoir des problèmes mais si on compare à d'autres substances, c’est moins grave. Oubliez ce que notre rapport a dit. Les gens de l’Institute of Medicine aux États-Unis ont systématiquement décidé de cela. Le danger de la prohibition de la substance, on peut avoir beaucoup de plaisir avec ça. On en a des preuves de cela.

(The Chair: The range of opinions is vast…)

(anglais suit)

 (following French – Senator Nolin: des preuves de cela.) 

The Chair:  The range of opinions is vast.  However, I must say that everyone on this committee has benefited from Senator Nolin's experience and expertise in this matter, as we have benefited from your experience and expertise this evening, Mr. Saint-Denis.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  Thank you.

The Chair:  We are very grateful to you.

Mr. Saint-Denis:  If I may just say one thing, Senator Nolin and I go back a fair bit, and I have to tell you that I have also benefited from his expertise and the work he has done – and the work that his previous committee has done, particularly in the area of cannabis.

The Chair:  Thank you.  Colleagues, we shall meet again in this room at 10:45 tomorrow morning to conduct our clause-by-clause examination of Bill C-15.

(The committee adjourned.)
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